UC Irvine UC Irvine Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Title On Kähler manifolds with certain curvature bounds

Permalink https://escholarship.org/uc/item/76w235xx

Author Ji, Yucheng

Publication Date 2019

Supplemental Material https://escholarship.org/uc/item/76w235xx#supplemental

Peer reviewed|Thesis/dissertation

UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA, IRVINE

On Kähler manifolds with certain curvature bounds

DISSERTATION

submitted in partial satisfaction of the requirements for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

in Mathematics

by

Yucheng Ji

Dissertation Committee: Professor Zhiqin Lu, Chair Professor Song-Ying Li Professor Jeffrey D. Streets

 \bigodot 2019 Yuch
eng Ji

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS			
\mathbf{C}	URR	CULUM VITAE	iv
A	BST	ACT OF THE DISSERTATION	\mathbf{v}
1	Kä	hler-Ricci Flow on Fano Manifolds	3
	.1	Preliminaries	3
		.1.1 Kähler manifolds	3
		.1.2 Kähler-Einstein metric and Futaki invariant	6
		.1.3 (Normalized) Kähler-Ricci flow	8
	.2	Convergence of the Flow	12
		.2.1 The C^0 -estimate	12
		.2.2 A smoothing lemma	13
		.2.3 From C^0 -norm to L^2 -norm	16
		.2.4 'Strong' Poincaré-type inequality	20
	.3	Reduction to Stability Conditions	24
		.3.1 Stability conditions	24
		.3.2 More on stability conditions	26
		.3.3 Stability and convergence	29
2	Tł	e Role of Bisectional Curvature	33
	.1	Bisectional Curvature along the Flow	33
		.1.1 Preserving positive bisectional curvature	33
		.1.2 On the lower bound of bisectional curvature	40
		.1.3 On the lower bound of Ricci curvature	45
	.2	Curvature and Stability Conditions	49
		.2.1 The lower bound of μ	49
		.2.2 The vanishing of Futaki invariant	54
	.3	An Alternative Attempt	55

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to thank my advisor, Professor Zhiqin Lu, for his guidance and very constant support during the years in my Ph.D. study. I have learnt a great deal of mathematics from him, and his mathematical insights helped me a lot in my research.

I would also like to thank Professor Jeffrey Streets and Professor Xiangwen Zhang for many helpful conversations and encouragements.

I am very grateful to Professors Song-Ying Li, Abel Klein, Svetlana Jitomirskaya, Chuu-Lian Terng, Richard Schoen, Li-Sheng Tseng, Vladimir Baranovsky and Nathan Kaplan for the wonderful courses they taught and their friendliness around the department.

Many thanks to my classmates Alexander Mramor, Jiawei Zhou, Matthew Gibson, Ka Laam Chan, Jiancheng Lyu and many others for their communications and friendship over years through my Ph.D. career.

CURRICULUM VITAE

Yucheng Ji

EDUCATION

Doctor of Philosophy in Mathematics University of California, Irvine

Bachelor of Science in Mathematics Fudan University

TEACHING EXPERIENCE

Teaching Assistant University of California, Irvine **2019** *Irvine, California*

2013 Shanghai, China

2013–2019 *Irvine, California*

ABSTRACT OF THE DISSERTATION

On Kähler manifolds with certain curvature bounds

By

Yucheng Ji

Doctor of Philosophy in Mathematics University of California, Irvine, 2019 Professor Zhiqin Lu, Chair

This dissertation discusses the Frankel conjecture and the Kähler-Ricci flow approach to it. Frankel conjecture (first proved by Mori and Siu-Yau independently) states that every compact Kähler manifold of positive bisectional curvature is biholomorphic to the complex projective space. On the other hand, the Ricci flow introduced by Hamilton was used by Bando and Mok to generalize Siu-Yau's theorem to nonnegative bisectional curvature case. It's natural to ask if there is a primarily flow proof of the original Frankel conjecture.

The convergence of Kähler-Ricci flow on compact manifolds with positive bisectional curvature would imply such a proof, however not yet been completed. The advances closest to this target might be a series of papers by Phong-Song-Sturm-Weinkove along with the improvements by Cao-Zhu and Zhang. We are going to survey their works in this thesis, and also cover some new result proved by the author.

This thesis is organized as follows. In chapter one, we first collect some fundamental facts of Kähler geometry, and then go over the convergence theory of Kähler-Ricci flow on Fano manifolds built on stability conditions. In chapter two, we review known results on bisectional curvature, and then relate the curvature to the former stability conditions. Finally we will state and prove our new result.

Introduction

Frankel conjecture, which states that every compact Kähler manifold of positive bisectional curvature is biholomorphic to the complex projective space, was first made by T. Frankel [15] in 1961. The dimension two case was settled by Andreotti-Frankel [15] and dimension three case by T. Mabuchi [25]. In 1980, Siu-Yau [34] solved Frankel conjecture in full generality, by using harmonic map from complex projective line into the manifold, and characterization of the complex projective space obtained earlier by Kobayashi-Ochiai [24]. An independent proof was given by S. Mori [27] in 1979, where he used algebraic method to prove the Hartshorne conjecture, which includes Frankel conjecture as its special case.

On the other hand, in 1982, R. Hamilton [20] introduced the Ricci flow as a new powerful tool in differential geometry. Its version on Kähler manifolds, the Kähler-Ricci flow was used right afterwards by S. Bando [2] to generalize Siu-Yau's theorem to nonnegative bisectional curvature case, in dimension three. The n-dimensional classification was done by N. Mok [26] combining flow method and Mori's algebraic method. Later H. Gu [19] simplified Mok's arguments. Since all their proofs rely on Kähler-Ricci flow, it's natural to ask if there is a primarily flow proof of the original Frankel conjecture.

The first attempt along this direction is the work of Chen-Tian [11][12]. With first assuming the Frankel conjecture, they proved that the Kähler-Ricci flow starting from any initial metric with positive bisectional curvature, would converge to the Fubini-Study metric. Later, G. Perelman showed the convergence of the flow with only assuming the existence of a Kähler-Einstein metric (detailed proof can be found in [5], chapter 6). In 2009, Chen-Sun-Tian [10] obtained a proof of Frankel conjecture by using Kähler-Ricci flow and soliton. They used induction on dimension, part of Siu-Yau's idea and some Morse theory. After a couple of years, He-Sun [22] gave another independent proof through so-called Sasaki-Ricci flow.

However, up to now, the convergence of Kähler-Ricci flow on compact manifolds with positive bisectional curvature, has not yet been completely proved, without a priori assuming the Frankel conjecture. The advances closest to this target might be a series of papers by Phong, Sturm, Song and Weinkove [31][29][30], along with the improvements by Cao-Zhu [8] and Z. Zhang [36]. We are going to survey their works in this note.

This note is organized as follows. In chapter one, we first collect some fundamental facts of Kähler geometry, and then go over the convergence theory of Kähler-Ricci flow on Fano manifolds built on stability conditions, due to [31][29] and [36]. In chapter two, we review Mok's result on bisectional curvature and the improvements by [10][8], and then relate the curvature to the former stability conditions as in [30]. Some new result by the author is also included. We try to make the note as self-contained as much, with assuming that the reader is familiar with Kähler-Ricci flow at the level of standard textbooks (such as [5], chapter 3 and 5).

Chapter 1

Kähler-Ricci Flow on Fano Manifolds

In this chapter, we first collect the basic definitions and results in Kähler geometry which will be used later, and then cover the convergence theory of Kähler-Ricci flow developed by Phong-Song-Sturm-Weinkove [29]. They reduced the convergence to some stability conditions, but we will adapt Z. Zhang's method [36] on some steps, since his approach seems more simple and transparent.

.1 Preliminaries

.1.1 Kähler manifolds

Let (X^n, g) be a compact complex manifold of complex dimension n with the Hermitian metric g. In local holomorphic coordinates (z^1, \dots, z^n) , denote its Kähler form by

$$\omega = \frac{\sqrt{-1}}{2} \sum_{i,j} g_{i\bar{j}} dz^i \wedge d\bar{z}^j > 0.$$

By definition, g is Kähler means that its Kähler form ω is a closed real (1, 1)-form, or equivalently,

$$\partial_k g_{i\bar{j}} = \partial_i g_{k\bar{j}}$$
 and $\partial_{\bar{k}} g_{i\bar{j}} = \partial_{\bar{j}} g_{i\bar{k}}$

for all $i, j, k = 1, \dots n$.

The cohomology class $[\omega]$ represented by ω in $H^2(X, \mathbb{R})$ is called the Kähler class of metric $g_{i\bar{j}}$. By the Hodge theory, two Kähler metrics $g_{i\bar{j}}$ and $\tilde{g}_{i\bar{j}}$ belong to the same Kähler class if and only if $g_{i\bar{j}} = \tilde{g}_{i\bar{j}} + \partial_i \partial_{\bar{j}} \varphi$, or equivalently,

$$\omega = \tilde{\omega} + \frac{\sqrt{-1}}{2} \partial \bar{\partial} \varphi$$

for some real-valued smooth function φ on X.

The volume of (X, g) is written as

$$\operatorname{Vol}\left(X,g\right) = \int_{X} \frac{\omega^{n}}{n!} = \int_{X} \det(g) \wedge_{k=1}^{n} \left(\frac{\sqrt{-1}}{2} dz^{k} \wedge d\bar{z}^{k}\right).$$

Clearly, by Stokes' theorem, $\operatorname{Vol}(X, g) = \operatorname{Vol}(X, \tilde{g})$ if g and \tilde{g} are in the same Kähler class. We will just use V to denote $\operatorname{Vol}(X, g)$.

The Christoffel symbols of the metric $g_{i\bar{j}}$ are given by

$$\Gamma^k_{ij} = g^{\bar{\ell}k} \partial_i g_{j\bar{\ell}} \quad \text{and} \quad \Gamma^{\bar{k}}_{\bar{i}\bar{j}} = g^{\bar{k}\ell} \partial_{\bar{i}} g_{\ell\bar{j}}$$

where $(g^{\bar{j}i}) = (g_{i\bar{j}})^{-1}$. Given any $T^{1,0}$ -tensor v_i , its covariant derivatives are defined as

$$abla_j v_i = \partial_j v_i - \Gamma_{ij}^k v_k \quad \text{and} \quad \nabla_{\bar{j}} v_i = \partial_{\bar{j}} v_i.$$

The covariant derivatives of $T^{0,1}$ -tensor are just defined as the conjugate of the above.

The curvature tensor of the metric $g_{i\bar{j}}$ is given by $R_{i\ k\bar{\ell}}^{\ j} = -\partial_{\bar{\ell}}\Gamma_{ik}^{j}$, or by lowering j to the second index:

$$R_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} = g_{p\bar{j}}R_{i\ k\bar{\ell}}^{\ p} = -\partial_k\partial_{\bar{\ell}}g_{i\bar{j}} + g^{\bar{q}p}\partial_kg_{i\bar{q}}\partial_{\bar{\ell}}g_{p\bar{j}}.$$

From the Kähler condition, it's not hard to see

$$R_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} = R_{k\bar{j}i\bar{\ell}} \quad \text{and} \quad R_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} = R_{i\bar{\ell}k\bar{j}}, \qquad (1\text{st Bianchi identity})$$

$$\nabla_p R_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} = \nabla_k R_{i\bar{j}p\bar{\ell}} \quad \text{and} \quad \nabla_{\bar{q}} R_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} = \nabla_{\bar{\ell}} R_{i\bar{j}k\bar{q}}. \tag{2nd Bianchi identity}$$

The commutation rules of covariant differentiations are as follows:

$$\begin{split} [\nabla_k, \nabla_j] v_i &= 0, \qquad [\nabla_{\bar{k}}, \nabla_{\bar{j}}] v_i = 0, \\ [\nabla_k, \nabla_{\bar{j}}] v_i &= -R_{k\bar{j}i\bar{\ell}} v^{\bar{\ell}}, \qquad [\nabla_k, \nabla_{\bar{j}}] w_{\bar{\ell}} = R_{k\bar{j}i\bar{\ell}} w^i \end{split}$$

We say that (X, g) has positive (holomorphic) bisectional curvature, or positive holomorphic sectional curvature at a point $x \in X$, if

$$R_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}}v^iv^{\bar{j}}w^kw^{\bar{\ell}} > 0, \quad \text{or} \quad R_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}}v^iv^{\bar{j}}v^kv^{\bar{\ell}} > 0$$

respectively, for all nonzero vectors v and w in the holomorphic tangent space $T^{1,0}_x X$.

The Ricci tensor of the metric $g_{i\bar{j}}$ is obtained by taking the trace of $R_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}}$:

$$R_{i\bar{j}} = g^{\ell k} R_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} = -\partial_i \partial_{\bar{j}} \log \det(g).$$

It is clear that the Ricci form

$$\operatorname{Ric} = \frac{\sqrt{-1}}{2} \sum_{i,j} R_{i\overline{j}} dz^i \wedge d\overline{z}^j$$

is real and closed. It is well known that the first Chern class $c_1(X) \in H^2(X,\mathbb{Z})$ of X is represented by the Ricci form:

$$[\operatorname{Ric}] = \pi c_1(X).$$

A compact Kähler manifold is called Fano if its first Chern class is positive, i.e., contains a positive representative.

Finally, the scalar curvature of the metric $g_{i\bar{j}}$ is

$$R = g^{ji} R_{i\bar{j}}.$$

Hence, the total scalar curvature

$$\int_X R \frac{\omega^n}{n!} = \int_X \operatorname{Ric} \wedge \frac{\omega^{n-1}}{(n-1)!}$$

depends only on the Kähler class of ω and the first Chern class $c_1(X)$.

From now on, by abusing the notations, we will just write ω^n to denote the volume form $\omega^n/n!$.

.1.2 Kähler-Einstein metric and Futaki invariant

A Kähler metric $g_{i\bar{j}}$ is called Kähler-Einstein if

$$R_{i\bar{j}} = \lambda g_{i\bar{j}}$$

for some real number $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$. A classical example is the complex projective space \mathbb{CP}^n with Fubini-Study metric g_{FS} :

$$g_{i\bar{j}} = \partial_i \partial_{\bar{j}} \log\left(1 + \sum_{k=1}^n |z_k|^2\right)$$

which satisfies

$$R_{i\bar{j}} = (n+1)g_{i\bar{j}}.$$

Clearly, if X admits a Kähler-Einstein metric g, then the first Chern class is necessarily definite, as

$$\pi c_1(X) = \lambda[\omega_g].$$

When $c_1(X) = 0$ it follows from S.-T. Yau's solution [35] to the Calabi conjecture that, in each Kähler class there exists a unique Calabi-Yau metric (i.e. Ricci-flat metric). Moreover, when $c_1(X) < 0$, T. Aubin [1] and Yau [35] independently proved the existence of a unique Kähler-Einstein metric in the class $-\pi c_1(X)$.

However, in the Fano case (i.e. $c_1(X) > 0$) Kähler-Einstein metric does not always exist. Among many other ones, in 1983 A. Futaki [16] introduced his famous obstruction, which now is called Futaki invariant, defined as follows:

Choose any Kähler metric g with $[\omega_g] = \pi c_1(X)$. Then its Kähler form and its Ricci form lie in the same cohomology class. Hence, by the Hodge theory, there exists a real-valued smooth function u, called the Ricci potential of metric g, such that

$$R_{i\bar{j}} + \partial_i \partial_{\bar{j}} u = g_{i\bar{j}}.$$

Let $\eta(X)$ denote the space of holomorphic vector fields on X, and W be any element in $\eta(X)$. Then the functional $F: \eta(X) \to \mathbb{C}$ defined by

$$F(W) = \int_X W(u)\omega^n = \int_X (W \cdot \nabla u)\omega^n$$

is called the Futaki invariant.

In [16], Futaki proved that F(W) depends only on the class $\pi c_1(X)$, but not the special choice of metric g. Obviously, if a Fano manifold X admits a positive Kähler-Einstein metric, then the Ricci potential u must be constant, and the Futaki invariant F vanishes. F has strong relation to the notion called 'geometric stability', which plays a central role in the existence problem of Kähler-Einstein metric on Fano manifolds, in the general case.

.1.3 (Normalized) Kähler-Ricci flow

Now assume that we have a compact Fano Kähler manifold (X^n, g_0) such that $[\omega_{g_0}] = \pi c_1(X)$. The normalized Kähler-Ricci flow is

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}g_{i\bar{j}} = -R_{i\bar{j}} + g_{i\bar{j}}, \quad g(0) = g_0 \tag{1.1}$$

or equivalently

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}\omega = -\operatorname{Ric}(\omega) + \omega, \quad \omega(0) = \omega_0(=\omega_{g_0}).$$

From the second equation, the evolution of the Kähler class shows

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}[\omega] = -\pi c_1(X) + [\omega] \quad \Rightarrow \quad [\omega] \equiv \pi c_1(X).$$

So the normalized Kähler-Ricci flow preserves the Kähler class, and hence the total volume of the manifold. H. Cao [6] proved that the solution to this flow exists for all t > 0.

With the metric evolving along the time, the Ricci potential u defined by

$$R_{i\bar{j}} + \partial_i \partial_{\bar{j}} u = g_{i\bar{j}} \tag{1.2}$$

also evolves along the time. If we normalize u by constraint

$$\frac{1}{V} \int_X e^{-u} \omega^n = 1, \tag{1.3}$$

then u is well-known to satisfy

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}u = \Delta u + u - a, \quad \text{where} \quad a \coloneqq \frac{1}{V} \int_X u e^{-u} \omega^n.$$
 (.1.4)

Since the solution ω_t to (.1.1) always lies in the same cohomology class as ω_0 , there exists smooth real-valued function $\phi(t)$ on $X \times [0, +\infty)$ such that $\omega_t = \omega_0 + \frac{\sqrt{-1}}{2} \partial \bar{\partial} \phi$. The evolution equation of ϕ is

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}\phi = \log \frac{\omega_t^n}{\omega_0^n} + \phi + u(0), \quad \phi(0) = \phi_0 \tag{1.5}$$

which is equivalent to (.1.1). Compare (.1.1) and (.1.2), we can tell that u and $\partial_t \phi$ are identical up to at most a time-dependent constant.

By straightforward computations, we can find that the evolutions of the volume form and curvatures are as follows:

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}\omega^n = (n-R)\omega^n; \tag{1.6}$$

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}R = \Delta R + R_{i\bar{j}}R^{\bar{j}i} - R; \qquad (.1.7)$$

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}R_{i\bar{j}} = \Delta R_{i\bar{j}} + R_{i\bar{j}a\bar{b}}R^{\bar{b}a} - R_{i\bar{k}}R^{\bar{k}}{}_{\bar{j}}; \qquad (.1.8)$$

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} R_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} = \Delta R_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} + R_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} + R_{i\bar{j}a\bar{b}} R^{\bar{b}a}{}_{k\bar{\ell}} + R_{i\bar{b}a\bar{\ell}} R^{\bar{b}}{}_{j\bar{k}}{}^{a} - R_{i\bar{a}k\bar{b}} R^{\bar{a}}{}_{j\bar{\ell}}{}^{\bar{b}}{}_{\bar{\ell}} - \frac{1}{2} \left(R_{i}{}^{a} R_{a\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} + R^{\bar{a}}{}_{j\bar{j}} R_{i\bar{a}k\bar{\ell}} + R_{k}{}^{a} R_{i\bar{j}a\bar{\ell}} + R^{\bar{a}}{}_{\bar{\ell}} R_{i\bar{j}k\bar{a}} \right).$$
(.1.9)

Note here the Laplacian operator Δ is defined as $\frac{1}{2}g^{\bar{j}i}(\nabla_i\nabla_{\bar{j}}+\nabla_{\bar{j}}\nabla_i)$.

One of the deepest results in the theory of Kähler-Ricci flow is the following estimate proved by G. Perelman for a solution of (.1.1) (see [32] or chapter 5 in [5] for a detailed exposition). The first part is bound for the Ricci potential u = u(t) defined by (.1.2) and (.1.3) and the second part is a non-collapsing theorem:

(i) There exists a constant C depending only on $g_{i\bar{j}}(0)$ such that

$$\|u\|_{C^0} + \|\nabla u\|_{C^0} + \|R\|_{C^0} \le C.$$
(.1.10)

Note that taking trace of (.1.2) would yield $\Delta u = n - R$.

(ii) Let $\rho > 0$ be given. Then there exists c > 0 depending only on $g_{i\bar{j}}(0)$ and ρ such that for all points $x \in X$, all times $t \ge 0$ and all r with $0 < r \le \rho$, we have

$$\int_{B_r(x)} \omega^n > c r^{2n}, \tag{1.11}$$

where $B_r(x)$ is the geodesic ball of radius r centered at x with respect to the metric

$$g = g(t).$$

If the solution $g_{i\bar{j}}(t)$ of the normalized Kähler-Ricci flow (.1.1) converges smoothly to a limit metric g_{∞} , then we must have $\lim_{t\to\infty} \frac{\partial}{\partial t}\phi = 0$. Equation (.1.5) tells that the limit metric satisfies

$$0 = \log \frac{\omega_{\infty}^{n}}{\omega_{0}^{n}} + \phi_{\infty} + u(0); \qquad (.1.12)$$

making $\partial \bar{\partial}$ acts on both sides of (.1.12), we get

$$0 = -\operatorname{Ric}(\omega_{\infty}) + \operatorname{Ric}(\omega_{0}) + \frac{\sqrt{-1}}{2}\partial\bar{\partial}\phi_{\infty} + \frac{\sqrt{-1}}{2}\partial\bar{\partial}u(0)$$
$$= -\operatorname{Ric}(\omega_{\infty}) + \operatorname{Ric}(\omega_{0}) + \omega_{\infty} - \omega_{0} + \omega_{0} - \operatorname{Ric}(\omega_{0})$$
$$= -\operatorname{Ric}(\omega_{\infty}) + \omega_{\infty},$$

which shows that the limit metric must be Kähler-Einstein:

$$\operatorname{Ric}\left(\omega_{\infty}\right) = \omega_{\infty}.\tag{1.13}$$

From now on, we will write NKRF as brief notation of normalized Kähler-Ricci flow, and K-E metric as brief notation of Kähler-Einstein metric. For convenience, we will also use repeated indices to represent summations, as well as the upper-lower index summations.

.2 Convergence of the Flow

.2.1 The C^0 -estimate

In order to get the convergence of NKRF on compact Kähler manifold $(X^n, g(t))$, the standard step is to derive the so-called C^0 -estimates, i.e. uniform C^0 bounds of the Kähler potential ϕ and its time derivative $\partial_t \phi$; then all higher order estimates can be obtained for free and so is the C^{∞} -convergence of the flow ([35], [6], and [5], chapter 3 and chapter 6).

The boundness of $\|\partial_t \phi\|_{C^0}$ is already included in Perelman's result (.1.10), so we just need to figure out $\|\phi\|_{C^0}$. The following proposition, which observes that that the integrability of $\|R - n\|_{C^0}$ over $t \in [0, \infty)$ implies a uniform bound for $\|\phi\|_{C^0}$, is due to Phong-Song-Sturm-Weinkove [29]:

Proposition 1.1. Let $(X^n, g(t))$ be a compact Fano Kähler manifold with g(t) as the solution to NKRF. Assume that the scalar curvature R(t) along the flow satisfies

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} \|R(t) - n\|_{C^{0}} dt < \infty,$$
(.2.1)

then $\|\phi\|_{C^0}$ is uniformly bounded along the NKRF.

Proof of Proposition 1.1. Let's recall the flow equation (.1.5)

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}\phi = \log \frac{\omega_t^n}{\omega_0^n} + \phi + u(0), \qquad \phi(0) = \phi_0; \tag{2.2}$$

remember that Perelman's estimate for u implies $\|\partial_t \phi\|_{C^0} \leq C$.

Take derivative

$$\frac{d}{dt} \left(\log \frac{\omega_t^n}{\omega_0^n} \right) = g^{\bar{j}i} \partial_t g_{i\bar{j}} = -(R-n),$$

thus for any $t \in (0, \infty)$,

$$\left|\log \frac{\omega_t^n}{\omega_0^n}\right| = \left|\int_0^t (R-n)\,dt\right| \le \int_0^\infty \|R-n\|_{C^0}dt < \infty.$$

On the other hand, (.2.2) can be rewritten as

$$\phi = -\log \frac{\omega_t^n}{\omega_0^n} + \partial_t \phi - u(0),$$

then the uniform bound for $\|\phi\|_{C^0}$ follows from the uniform bound for $|\log (\omega_t^n/\omega_0^n)|$ and Perelman's uniform estimate for $\|\partial_t \phi\|_{C^0}$.

From Proposition 1.1, we easily see that the exponential decay of $||R(t) - n||_{C^0}$ to 0 would give us the C^0 -estimate, hence the convergence of the NKRF.

.2.2 A smoothing lemma

The following smoothing lemma is due to Bando [3] and refined in [29], which shows that the C^0 -norm of u could control the C^0 -norms of ∇u and Δu at later time:

Lemma 1.2. There exist positive constants δ and K depending only on n with the following property. For any ε with $0 < \varepsilon \leq \delta$ and any $t_0 \geq 0$, if

$$\|u(t_0)\|_{C^0} \le \varepsilon,$$

then

$$\|\nabla u(t_0+2)\|_{C^0} + \|R(t_0+2) - n\|_{C^0} \le K\varepsilon.$$

The proof consists of some delicate maximum-principle arguments.

Proof of Lemma 1.2. Without loss of generality, we can assume $t_0 = 0$ by making a translation in time. Recall the evolution equation (.1.4) of u:

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}u = \Delta u + u - a$$
, where $a = \frac{1}{V} \int_X u e^{-u} \omega^n$.

It is convenient to define a new constant c = c(t) for $t \ge 0$ by $\dot{c} = a + c$, c(0) = 0; then set $\hat{u}(t) = -u(t) - c(t)$. We have $\|\hat{u}(0)\|_{C^0} = \|u(0)\|_{C^0} \le \varepsilon$ and \hat{u} evolves by

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}\hat{u} = \Delta\hat{u} + \hat{u}.$$

Following [3], we calculate

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}\hat{u}^2 = \Delta\hat{u}^2 - 2|\nabla\hat{u}|^2 + 2\hat{u}^2, \qquad (.2.3)$$

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} |\nabla \hat{u}|^2 = \Delta |\nabla \hat{u}|^2 - |\nabla \overline{\nabla} \hat{u}|^2 - |\nabla \nabla \hat{u}|^2 + |\nabla \hat{u}|^2, \qquad (.2.4)$$

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}\Delta\hat{u} = \Delta(\Delta\hat{u}) + \Delta\hat{u} + |\nabla\overline{\nabla}\hat{u}|^2.$$
(.2.5)

From (.2.3) we have

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} \left(e^{-2t}(\hat{u}^2) \right) \le \Delta \left(e^{-2t}(\hat{u}^2) \right), \tag{2.6}$$

which gives $\|\hat{u}(t)\|_{C^0} \le e^2 \varepsilon$ for $t \in [0, 2]$.

From (.2.4) we have

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} \left(e^{-2t} (\hat{u}^2 + t |\nabla \hat{u}|^2) \right) \le \Delta \left(e^{-2t} (\hat{u}^2 + t |\nabla \hat{u}|^2) \right) \quad \text{when } t \ge 1,$$
(.2.7)

giving $\|\nabla \hat{u}\|_{C^0}(t) \le e^2 \varepsilon$ for $t \in [1, 2]$.

We shall now prove a lower bound for $\Delta \hat{u}$. Set

$$H = e^{-(t-1)} (|\nabla \hat{u}|^2 - \varepsilon n^{-1} (t-1) \Delta \hat{u})$$

and compute using (.2.4) and (.2.5),

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}H = \Delta H - e^{-(t-1)} \left(\varepsilon n^{-1} \Delta \hat{u} + (1 + \varepsilon n^{-1}(t-1)) |\nabla \overline{\nabla} \hat{u}|^2 + |\nabla \nabla \hat{u}|^2\right).$$

For $t \in [1, 2]$, using the inequality $(\Delta \hat{u})^2 \leq n |\nabla \overline{\nabla} \hat{u}|^2$ we obtain

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}H \leq \Delta H + e^{-(t-1)}n^{-1}(-\Delta \hat{u})(\varepsilon + \Delta \hat{u}).$$
(.2.8)

We claim that $H < 2e^4\varepsilon^2$ for $t \in [1, 2]$. Otherwise, at the point $(x', t') \in X \times (1, 2]$ when this inequality first fails we have $-\Delta \hat{u} \ge e^4\varepsilon$. But since $(\frac{\partial}{\partial t} - \Delta)H \ge 0$ at this point, we also have $\varepsilon + \Delta \hat{u} \ge 0$, which gives a contradiction. Hence at t = 2 we have $H < 2e^4\varepsilon^2$ and

$$\Delta \hat{u} > -2ne^5\varepsilon$$

on X.

By considering the quantity

$$K = e^{-(t-1)} (|\nabla \hat{u}|^2 + \varepsilon n^{-1} (t-1) \Delta \hat{u}),$$

we can similarly prove that $\Delta \hat{u} < 2ne^5 \varepsilon$ at t = 2. Since $\nabla u = -\nabla \hat{u}$, $\Delta u = -\Delta \hat{u} = n - R$, this completes the proof of the lemma.

Remark 1.3. In the statement of the lemma, $(t_0 + 2)$ could be replaced by $(t_0 + \zeta)$ for any positive constant ζ , at the expense of allowing the constants δ and K to depend on ζ .

By combining Lemma 1.2 and Proposition 1.1, we know the exponential decay of $||u(t)||_{C^0}$ to 0 would be enough to make the NKRF converge.

.2.3 From C^0 -norm to L^2 -norm

To further refine the condition for NKRF to converge, the authors of [29] proved the following proposition, by making use of Perelman's non-collapsing theorem:

Proposition 1.4. The Ricci potential u(t) and its average a(t) satisfy the following inequalities, where the constant C depends only on $g_{i\bar{j}}(0)$:

- (i) $0 \le -a \le ||u-a||_{C^0};$
- (*ii*) $||u a||_{C^0}^{n+1} \le C ||u a||_{L^2}$.

Proof of Proposition 1.4. First, as a consequence of Jensen's inequality and the convexity of

exponential function,

$$a = \frac{1}{V} \int_{X} u \, e^{-u} \omega^{n} \le \log\left(\frac{1}{V} \int_{X} e^{u} e^{-u} \omega^{n}\right) = 0.$$
 (.2.9)

On the other hand, from (.1.3) we know e^{-u} has average 1 with respect to the measure ω^n , and thus $\max_X(u) \ge 0$. Hence $-a \le \max_X(u-a)$, and (i) is proved.

Next, let $A = ||u - a||_{C^0} = |u - a|(x_0)$. Then $|u - a| \ge \frac{A}{2}$ on the ball $B_r(x_0)$ of radius $r = \frac{A}{2||\nabla u||_{C^0}}$ centered at x_0 . If $r < \rho$, where ρ is some fixed uniform radius in Perelman's non-collapsing result (.1.11), then

$$\int_{X} (u-a)^{2} \omega^{n} \ge \int_{B_{r}(x_{0})} \frac{A^{2}}{4} \omega^{n} \ge c \frac{A^{2}}{4} \left(\frac{A}{2\|\nabla u\|_{C^{0}}}\right)^{2n}$$
(.2.10)

and thus

$$\|u-a\|_{C^0}^{n+1} \leq C_1 \|\nabla u\|_{C^0}^n \|u-a\|_{L^2} \leq C \|u-a\|_{L^2}.$$
(.2.11)

On the other hand, if $r > \rho$, then integrating over the ball $B_{\rho}(x_0)$ gives

$$\int_{X} (u-a)^{2} \omega^{n} \ge \int_{B_{\rho}(x_{0})} \frac{A^{2}}{4} \omega^{n} = \frac{A^{2}}{4} \int_{B_{\rho}(x_{0})} \omega^{n}$$
(.2.12)

and hence $||u - a||_{C^0} \leq C_2 ||u - a||_{L^2}$, which turns out to be a stronger estimate than (ii). \Box

With Proposition 1.4 in hand, for the convergence of NKRF to a K-E metric, we just need to prove that $||u - a||_{L^2}$ converges exponentially fast to 0 along the flow. The next step is to relate this target with some 'stability conditions'. [29] first raised an approach to achieve this goal, but we adapt the more simplified one by Z. Zhang [36] here. First we shall do some preparations. The following observation is made in [29] and N. Pali [28]: **Lemma 1.5.** The time derivative of a(t) equals to

$$\frac{1}{V} \int_{X} |\nabla u|^2 e^{-u} \omega^n - \frac{1}{V} \int_{X} (u-a)^2 e^{-u} \omega^n.$$
(.2.13)

Proof of Lemma 1.5. Compute using (.1.4) and (.1.6):

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{d}{dt}a &= \frac{1}{V}\frac{d}{dt}\int_X ue^{-u}\omega^n \\ &= \frac{1}{V}\int_X (\Delta u + u - a)e^{-u}\omega^n - \frac{1}{V}\int_X ue^{-u}(\Delta u + u - a)\omega^n \\ &+ \frac{1}{V}\int_X ue^{-u}\Delta u\,\omega^n \\ &= \frac{1}{V}\int_X \Delta ue^{-u}\omega^n - \frac{1}{V}\int_X u(u - a)e^{-u}\omega^n \\ &= \frac{1}{V}\int_X |\nabla u|^2 e^{-u}\omega^n - \frac{1}{V}\int_X (u - a)^2 e^{-u}\omega^n, \end{aligned}$$

where in the last line we used the equality

$$\int_X (\Delta u) e^{-u} \omega^n = \int_X |\nabla u|^2 e^{-u} \omega^n.$$

We also need the following Poincaré-type inequality on Fano manifolds (see for example, [17], Theorem 2.4.3):

Lemma 1.6. Let u satisfy (.1.2). Then the following inequality

$$\frac{1}{V} \int_{X} f^{2} e^{-u} \omega^{n} \leq \frac{1}{V} \int_{X} |\nabla f|^{2} e^{-u} \omega^{n} + \left(\frac{1}{V} \int_{X} f e^{-u} \omega^{n}\right)^{2}$$
(.2.14)

holds for all $f \in C^{\infty}(X)$.

Proof of Lemma 1.6. The desired inequality is equivalent to the fact that the lowest positive eigenvalue λ of the following operator

$$L(f) \coloneqq -g^{\bar{j}i} \nabla_i \nabla_{\bar{j}} f + g^{\bar{j}i} \nabla_i u \cdot \nabla_{\bar{j}} f = \lambda f, \qquad (.2.15)$$

with eigenfunction f satisfies $\lambda \ge 1$. Note that this operator is self-adjoint with respect to the inner product

$$\frac{1}{V}\int_X(\quad\cdot\quad)e^{-u}\omega^n,$$

and that its kernel consists of constants.

Applying $\nabla_{\bar{\ell}}$ and using commutation rule for covariant derivatives in the first term gives

$$-g^{\bar{j}i}\nabla_i\nabla_{\bar{j}}\nabla_{\bar{\ell}}f + R^{\bar{p}}_{\ \bar{\ell}}\nabla_{\bar{p}}f + g^{\bar{j}i}\nabla_{\bar{\ell}}\nabla_i u \cdot \nabla_{\bar{j}}f + g^{\bar{j}i}\nabla_{\bar{\ell}}\nabla_{\bar{j}}f \cdot \nabla_i u = \lambda\nabla_{\bar{\ell}}f.$$

Now integrate with respect to $g^{\bar{\ell}k} \nabla_k f e^{-u} \omega^n$ and integrate by parts. In view of the fact that

$$R_{i\bar{\ell}} + \partial_i \partial_{\bar{\ell}} u = g_{i\bar{\ell}},$$

we obtain

$$\int_{X} |\overline{\nabla}\overline{\nabla}f|^2 e^{-u} \omega^n + \int_{X} |\overline{\nabla}f|^2 e^{-u} \omega^n = \lambda \int_{X} |\overline{\nabla}f|^2 e^{-u} \omega^n, \qquad (.2.16)$$

from which the desired inequality $\lambda \geq 1$ follows at once.

We are ready to go over Zhang's result in next subsection.

.2.4 'Strong' Poincaré-type inequality

Z. Zhang [36] used a smart argument to get the convergence of NKRF. His first theorem is as follows:

Theorem 1.7. Let u(t) and a(t) be defined as in (.1.2) and (.1.4). If along the NKRF,

$$\int_{X} |\nabla u|^2 e^{-u} \omega^n \ge (1+\delta) \int_{X} (u-a)^2 e^{-u} \omega^n \tag{2.17}$$

holds for a uniform constant $\delta > 0$ independent of t, then $||u - a||_{L^2}$ converges exponentially fast to 0; i.e. NKRF converges in the C^{∞} sense to a K-E metric.

We need to divide the proof into a couple of lemmas.

For convenience, let's introduce notations

$$Y = \frac{1}{V} \int_X (u-a)^2 e^{-u} \omega^n, \quad Z = \frac{1}{V} \int_X (|\nabla u|^2 - (u-a)^2) e^{-u} \omega^n$$

at each time t.

Lemma 1.8. Along the NKRF we have $Z(t) \to 0$ as $t \to \infty$.

Proof of Lemma 1.8. From Perelman's result (.1.10), u(t) is uniformly bounded for all t > 0, then so is its average a(t). By Lemma 1.5 and Lemma 1.6, $Z(t) = da/dt \ge 0$ for any t. Then observe that

$$\int_0^\infty Z(t)dt = \lim_{t \to \infty} a(t) - a(0) < \infty.$$

To show $Z(t) \to 0$, it suffices to prove that dZ/dt is uniformly bounded. Recall the evolution

equations (.2.3) (.2.4):

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}u^2 = \Delta u^2 - 2|\nabla u|^2 + 2u(u-a),$$

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}|\nabla u|^2 = \Delta |\nabla u|^2 - |\nabla \nabla u|^2 - |\nabla \overline{\nabla} u|^2 + |\nabla u|^2;$$

then by direct calculation:

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{dZ}{dt} &= \frac{d}{dt} \frac{1}{V} \int_X (|\nabla u|^2 - (u-a)^2) e^{-u} \omega^n \\ &= \frac{1}{V} \int_X \left[\Delta |\nabla u|^2 - |\nabla \nabla u|^2 - |\nabla \overline{\nabla} u|^2 + 3 |\nabla u|^2 - \Delta (u-a)^2 \\ &- 2(u-a)^2 - (|\nabla u|^2 - (u-a)^2)(u-a) \right] e^{-u} \omega^n \\ &= \frac{1}{V} \int_X \left[- |\nabla \nabla u|^2 - |\nabla \overline{\nabla} u|^2 + 3 |\nabla u|^2 - 2(u-a)^2 \\ &+ (|\nabla u|^2 - (u-a)^2)(-\Delta u + |\nabla u|^2 - u + a) \right] e^{-u} \omega^n \end{aligned}$$

is uniformly bounded by Perelman's estimate (.1.10). Note that in the second equality, we used

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}(e^{-u}\omega^n) = (-\Delta u - u + a + n - R)e^{-u}\omega^n = -(u - a)e^{-u}\omega^n.$$

Lemma 1.9. Assume as in Theorem 1.7, then $Y(t) \to 0$ as $t \to \infty$.

Proof of Lemma 1.9. Lemma 1.5 and condition (.2.17) imply

$$Z = \frac{da}{dt} \ge \frac{\delta}{V} \int_X (u-a)^2 e^{-u} \omega^n,$$

then use Lemma 1.8.

Again by Perelman's estimate (.1.10), $||u-a||_{L^2}^2 = \int_X (u-a)^2 \omega^n$ and $Y = \frac{1}{V} \int_X (u-a)^2 e^{-u} \omega^n$ are uniformly equivalent. To get the exponential decay of $||u-a||_{L^2}$, we just need to prove the same thing for Y.

Lemma 1.10. Assume as in Theorem 1.7, then there exist positive constants γ and B depending only on $g_{i\bar{j}}(0)$ and δ such that

$$Y(t) \le Be^{-\gamma t}, \quad \forall t \in [0,\infty).$$

Proof of Lemma 1.10. By Proposition 1.4 (ii) and Lemma 1.9, $||u - a||_{C^0} \to 0$ as $t \to \infty$. Thus,

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{d}{dt}Y &= \frac{1}{V} \int_X \left[2(u-a)(\Delta u + u - a - \frac{da}{dt}) - (u-a)^3 \right] e^{-u} \omega^n \\ &= \frac{1}{V} \int_X \left[2(u-a)|\nabla u|^2 - 2|\nabla u|^2 + 2(u-a)^2 - (u-a)^3 \right] e^{-u} \omega^n \\ &\leq \frac{1}{V} \int_X \left[(-2+2||u-a||_{C^0})|\nabla u|^2 + (2+||u-a||_{C^0})(u-a)^2 \right] e^{-u} \omega^n \\ &\leq \left((-2+2||u-a||_{C^0})(1+\delta) + (2+||u-a||_{C^0}) \right) Y \\ &\leq -\delta \cdot Y \end{aligned}$$

whenever t is large enough. Note here we used the condition (.2.17) in the fourth line. This suffices to complete the proof of the lemma, as well as Theorem 1.7.

Our next job is to relate the convergence of NKRF with some stability conditions on Fano manifolds. This idea was first explored by Phong-Sturm [31] and Phong-Song-SturmWeinkove [29], where they indeed got some nice theorems. Zhang basically recovered and improved their results by using Theorem 1.7, which is more natural to be connected with stability conditions. We will finish this part in next section.

.3 Reduction to Stability Conditions

.3.1 Stability conditions

Let's first introduce the stability conditions we are going to use later. As before, we always assume $(X^n, g(t))$ evolves by NKRF.

One condition is the vanishing of the Futaki invariant, on the certain Kähler class $\pi c_1(X)$:

$$F(W) = \int_X W(u)\omega^n = \int_X (W \cdot \nabla u)\omega^n = 0$$
(.3.1)

for $\forall W \in \eta(X)$ and $\omega \in \pi c_1(X)$.

Others are lower bounds for some second-order differential operators. Recall the operator in (.2.15) acting on smooth functions:

$$L(f) = -g^{\bar{j}i} \nabla_i \nabla_{\bar{j}} f + g^{\bar{j}i} \nabla_i u \cdot \nabla_{\bar{j}} f; \qquad (.3.2)$$

by Lemma 1.6, the lowest positive eigenvalue of L is 1. We will post condition on the second positive eigenvalue of L, which we denote by ν , as in Zhang [36]. Namely,

$$\nu(t) \ge 1 + b$$
 for a uniform constant $b > 0.$ (.3.3)

This condition is closely related to the lower bounds of second-order differential operators on the space of smooth sections of $T^{1,0}X$. Introduce as in Phong-Song-Sturm-Weinkove [30] two inner products on the space of smooth $T^{1,0}$ -vector fields on X:

$$\langle U,W\rangle_0 = \frac{1}{V} \int_X g_{i\overline{j}} U^i \overline{W^j} \omega^n, \quad \langle U,W\rangle_u = \frac{1}{V} \int_X g_{i\overline{j}} U^i \overline{W^j} e^{-u} \omega^n.$$

Define two operators on the same space:

$$-g^{\bar{j}i}\nabla_i\nabla_{\bar{j}}, \quad -g^{\bar{j}i}\nabla_i\nabla_{\bar{j}} + g^{\bar{j}i}\nabla_i u \cdot \nabla_{\bar{j}}.$$

$$(.3.4)$$

It's clear that the first one is self-adjoint with respect to $\langle \ , \ \rangle_0$ and second one to $\langle \ , \ \rangle_u$. Obviously both operators have 0 as their smallest eigenvalue and $\eta(X)$ as the corresponding eigenspace. Let $\mu(t)$ and $\tilde{\mu}(t)$ be the lowest positive (second smallest) eigenvalue of $-g^{\bar{j}i}\nabla_i\nabla_{\bar{j}}$ and $-g^{\bar{j}i}\nabla_i\nabla_{\bar{j}} + g^{\bar{j}i}\nabla_i u \cdot \nabla_{\bar{j}}$ respectively, then we can post the conditions:

$$\mu(t) \ge c \quad \text{for a uniform constant} \quad c > 0, \tag{3.5}$$

or

$$\tilde{\mu}(t) \ge \tilde{c}$$
 for a uniform constant $\tilde{c} > 0.$ (.3.6)

Now we can summarize all stability conditions we need here:

- (A) X has vanished Futaki invariant on $\pi c_1(X)$;
- (B) $\nu(t) \ge 1 + b$ for a uniform constant b > 0;
- (C) $\mu(t) \ge c$ for a uniform constant c > 0;
- (C') $\tilde{\mu}(t) \geq \tilde{c}$ for a uniform constant $\tilde{c} > 0$.

.3.2 More on stability conditions

Here we provide four lemmas on these conditions. Denote by π_0 and π_u the orthogonal projections of $T^{1,0}$ -vector fields onto $\eta(X)$ with respect to \langle , \rangle_0 and \langle , \rangle_u . Let $\nabla u = \nabla^i u \frac{\partial}{\partial z^i} = g^{\bar{j}i} \partial_{\bar{j}} u \frac{\partial}{\partial z^i}$ be the complex gradient field of u. The first lemma is observed by Phong-Sturm [31]:

Lemma 1.11. If condition (A) holds, then $\pi_0(\nabla u) \equiv 0$.

Proof of Lemma 1.11. From (.3.1), the vanishing of Futaki invariant means $F(W) = \int_X (W \cdot \nabla u) \omega^n = 0$ for $\forall W \in \eta(X)$. Choose W to be $\pi_0(\nabla u)$, then

$$0 = \frac{1}{V} \int_X (W \cdot \nabla u) \omega^n = \langle \pi_0(\nabla u), \nabla u \rangle_0 = \langle \pi_0(\nabla u), \pi_0(\nabla u) \rangle_0,$$

which implies $\pi_0(\nabla u) \equiv 0$.

The second lemma is proved by Zhang [36]:

Lemma 1.12. Let $\nabla u = \pi_u(\nabla u) + U$ be the orthogonal decomposition with respect to \langle , \rangle_u . Then

$$\langle \pi_u(\nabla u), \pi_u(\nabla u) \rangle_0 \le \langle U, U \rangle_0,$$
(.3.7)

if condition (A) holds.

Proof of Lemma 1.12. Similarly, choosing W to be $\pi_u(\nabla u)$ yields

$$0 = \langle \pi_u(\nabla u), \nabla u \rangle_0 = \langle \pi_u(\nabla u), \pi_u(\nabla u) \rangle_0 + \langle \pi_u(\nabla u), U \rangle_0,$$

then the conclusion follows from the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality:

$$\langle \pi_u(\nabla u), \pi_u(\nabla u) \rangle_0 = -\langle \pi_u(\nabla u), U \rangle_0 \le \langle \pi_u(\nabla u), \pi_u(\nabla u) \rangle_0^{1/2} \cdot \langle U, U \rangle_0^{1/2}.$$

Now we turn to explore the properties of ν , μ and $\tilde{\mu}$.

We know that 0, having $\eta(X)$ as its eigenspace, is the smallest eigenvalue of operators $-g^{\bar{j}i}\nabla_i\nabla_{\bar{j}}$ and $-g^{\bar{j}i}\nabla_i\nabla_{\bar{j}} + g^{\bar{j}i}\nabla_i u \cdot \nabla_{\bar{j}}$. Then μ and $\tilde{\mu}$ as the second smallest eigenvalue(s), can be determined as the largest numbers such that:

$$\int_{X} |\overline{\nabla}W|^{2} \omega^{n} \geq \mu \int_{X} |W|^{2} \omega^{n}, \quad \forall \langle W, \eta(X) \rangle_{0} = 0;$$
$$\int_{X} |\overline{\nabla}W|^{2} e^{-u} \omega^{n} \geq \tilde{\mu} \int_{X} |W|^{2} e^{-u} \omega^{n}, \quad \forall \langle W, \eta(X) \rangle_{u} = 0$$

We also define $\operatorname{osc}_X(u) := \max_X(u) - \min_X(u)$, which is bounded for all time $t \ge 0$ due to Perelman's uniform estimate (.1.10).

The following lemma is due to Phong-Song-Sturm-Weinkove [30] and refined in Zhang [36]:

Lemma 1.13. The eigenvalues μ and $\tilde{\mu}$ satisfy

$$e^{-\operatorname{osc}_X(u)}\mu \le \tilde{\mu} \le e^{\operatorname{osc}_X(u)}\mu. \tag{(.3.8)}$$

Or in other words, μ and $\tilde{\mu}$ are uniformly equivalent to each other.

Proof of Lemma 1.13. Let U be a smooth $T^{1,0}$ -vector field such that $\langle U,\eta(X)\rangle_u = 0$ and

decompose it with respect to \langle , \rangle_0 as $U = W + \xi$ with $\xi \in \eta(X)$ and $\langle W, \xi \rangle_0 = 0$. Then,

$$0 = \langle U, \xi \rangle_u = \langle \xi, \xi \rangle_u + \langle W, \xi \rangle_u$$

yields $\langle \xi, \xi \rangle_u = -\langle W, \xi \rangle_u$. Hence,

$$\langle U, U \rangle_u = \langle U, W \rangle_u = \langle W, W \rangle_u + \langle \xi, W \rangle_u = \langle W, W \rangle_u - \langle \xi, \xi \rangle_u \le \langle W, W \rangle_u.$$

Now, since $\xi \in \eta(X)$,

$$\frac{1}{V} \int_{X} |\overline{\nabla}U|^2 e^{-u} \omega^n \ge e^{-\max_X(u)} \frac{1}{V} \int_{X} |\overline{\nabla}U|^2 \omega^n = e^{-\max_X(u)} \frac{1}{V} \int_{X} |\overline{\nabla}W|^2 \omega^n$$
$$\ge \mu e^{-\max_X(u)} \langle W, W \rangle_0 \ge \mu e^{-\operatorname{osc}_X(u)} \langle W, W \rangle_u$$
$$\ge \mu e^{-\operatorname{osc}_X(u)} \langle U, U \rangle_u.$$

In particular, $\tilde{\mu} \ge \mu e^{-\operatorname{osc}_X(u)}$. The other inequality follows similarly.

Our last lemma is observed also by Zhang [36]:

Lemma 1.14. The eigenvalues ν and $\tilde{\mu}$ satisfy

$$\nu \ge 1 + \tilde{\mu}. \tag{(.3.9)}$$

Combined with Lemma 1.13, we have $\nu \ge 1 + e^{-\operatorname{osc}_X(u)}\mu$.

Proof of Lemma 1.14. Recall the equation (.2.16):

$$\int_{X} |\overline{\nabla}\overline{\nabla}f|^{2} e^{-u} \omega^{n} + \int_{X} |\overline{\nabla}f|^{2} e^{-u} \omega^{n} = \lambda \int_{X} |\overline{\nabla}f|^{2} e^{-u} \omega^{n},$$

we can see that the eigenfunctions of L with $\lambda = 1$ are the ones whose complex gradient

fields being holomorphic. Let ψ be an eigenfunction of $\lambda = \nu$, then $\langle \nabla \psi, \eta(X) \rangle_u = 0$. We immediately get

$$(\nu-1)\int_X |\nabla\psi|^2 e^{-u}\omega^n = \int_X |\nabla_{\bar{i}}\nabla_{\bar{j}}\psi|^2 e^{-u}\omega^n \ge \tilde{\mu}\int_X |\nabla\psi|^2 e^{-u}\omega^n.$$

Lemma 1.13 and Lemma 1.14 basically tell us that, condition (C) and (C') are equivalent, and either of them implies condition (B).

.3.3 Stability and convergence

Now we can prove the following main theorem due to Zhang [36]:

Theorem 1.15. Suppose on (X, g(t)), conditions (A) and (B) hold. Then along the NKRF,

$$\int_{X} |\nabla u|^2 e^{-u} \omega^n \ge (1+\delta) \int_{X} (u-a)^2 e^{-u} \omega^n$$
(.3.10)

holds for a uniform constant $\delta > 0$ depending only on the constant b in condition (B) and the upper bound of $\operatorname{osc}_X(u)$. By Theorem 1.7, we know NKRF converges in the C^{∞} sense to a K-E metric.

From Lemma 1.13 and Lemma 1.14, we immediately have the following corollary:

Corollary 1.16. Suppose on (X, g(t)), conditions (A) and (C) (or conditions (A) and (C')) hold. Then NKRF converges in the C^{∞} sense to a K-E metric. **Remark 1.17.** Some versions of Corollary 1.16, with slightly stronger assumptions, appeared first in Phong-Song-Sturm-Weinkove [29] and [30].

Proof of Theorem 1.15. Denote by $L^2(X, e^{-u}\omega^n)$ the space of L^2 functions on X with respect to the inner product

$$\frac{1}{V} \int_X (\cdot \cdot \cdot) e^{-u} \omega^n.$$
 (.3.11)

Let

$$\lambda_0 = 0 < \lambda_1 = 1 < \lambda_2 = \nu < \lambda_3 \cdots$$

be the sequence of eigenvalues of the operator $L = -g^{\bar{j}i}\nabla_i\nabla_{\bar{j}} + g^{\bar{j}i}\nabla_i u \cdot \nabla_{\bar{j}}$ acting on function space $L^2(X, e^{-u}\omega^n)$.

We know the eigenspace of $\lambda_0 = 0$ is just the kernel of L, which consists of constants. In view of equation (.2.16), eigenfunctions of $\lambda_1 = 1$ are the ones whose complex gradient fields being holomorphic. Let E_k denote the eigenspace of λ_k , then we can write

$$u = u_0 + u_1 + u_2 + \cdots$$

as the unique orthogonal decomposition with respect to the inner product (.3.11), where $u_k \in E_k$ for each k. Note that $u_0 \equiv a$ and $\nabla u_1 \in \eta(X)$.

For any $k \ge 2$ we have $\lambda_k(t) \ge \nu(t) \ge 1 + b$ by condition (B). Thus, from integration by

parts

$$\begin{split} \int_{X} (u-a)^{2} e^{-u} \omega^{n} &= \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \int_{X} |u_{k}|^{2} e^{-u} \omega^{n} = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \lambda_{k}^{-1} \int_{X} |\nabla u_{k}|^{2} e^{-u} \omega^{n} \\ &\leq \int_{X} |\nabla u_{1}|^{2} e^{-u} \omega^{n} + \sum_{k=2}^{\infty} \frac{1}{1+b} \int_{X} |\nabla u_{k}|^{2} e^{-u} \omega^{n} \\ &= \int_{X} (|\nabla u_{1}|^{2} + \frac{1}{1+b} |U|^{2}) e^{-u} \omega^{n}, \end{split}$$

here U is defined by $\nabla u = \pi_u(\nabla u) + U$, where

$$\pi_u(\nabla u) = \nabla u_1$$
 and $U = \sum_{k=2}^{\infty} \nabla u_k.$

By Lemma 1.12, condition (A) implies

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{1}{V} \int_X |\nabla u_1|^2 e^{-u} \omega^n &\leq e^{-\min_X(u)} \langle \nabla u_1, \nabla u_1 \rangle_0 \\ &\leq e^{-\min_X(u)} \langle U, U \rangle_0 \leq e^{\operatorname{osc}_X(u)} \frac{1}{V} \int_X |U|^2 e^{-u} \omega^n. \end{aligned}$$

Hence, by direct calculation,

$$\begin{split} \int_X (u-a)^2 e^{-u} \omega^n &\leq \int_X (|\nabla u_1|^2 + \frac{1}{1+b} |U|^2) e^{-u} \omega^n \\ &= \int_X (\frac{b}{1+b} |\nabla u_1|^2 + \frac{1}{1+b} |\nabla u|^2) e^{-u} \omega^n \\ &\leq \int_X (\frac{b}{1+b} \frac{e^{\operatorname{osc}_X(u)}}{1+e^{\operatorname{osc}_X(u)}} |\nabla u|^2 + \frac{1}{1+b} |\nabla u|^2) e^{-u} \omega^n \\ &= \frac{b e^{\operatorname{osc}_X(u)} + e^{\operatorname{osc}_X(u)} + 1}{(1+b)(1+e^{\operatorname{osc}_X(u)})} \int_X |\nabla u|^2 e^{-u} \omega^n, \end{split}$$

then we can choose

$$\delta = \frac{b}{be^{\operatorname{osc}_X(u)} + e^{\operatorname{osc}_X(u)} + 1} > 0$$

Up to now, we have finished the convergence theory of NKRF on Fano manifolds built on stability conditions. We haven't yet touched bisectional curvature or Frankel conjecture; those would form the topics of next chapter.

Chapter 2

The Role of Bisectional Curvature

In this chapter, we first prove that the Kähler-Ricci flow preserves the positivity of bisectional curvature, due to S. Bando [2] and N. Mok [26] (this indeed provides a Kähler-Ricci flow approach to the Frankel conjecture, thanks to Goldberg-Kobayashi [18]); then go over the improved curvature pinching estimates obtained by Chen-Sun-Tian [10] and Cao-Zhu [8]. Later, we shall confirm that the curvature condition indeed implies the stability condition, as in Phong-Song-Sturm-Weinkove [30]. At last, we state and prove some new result due to the author.

.1 Bisectional Curvature along the Flow

.1.1 Preserving positive bisectional curvature

Let's start with the following version of Hamilton's strong tensor maximum principle proved by Bando ([2], Proposition 1):

Proposition 2.1. Let (X^n, g) be an n-dimensional Kähler manifold with the metric g pos-

sibly changes with time t. Consider a tensor h which has the same type and symmetric properties as the curvature tensor, satisfying the following equation:

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}h = \Delta h + H(h).$$

Suppose the smooth function H has the following property:

(*) If $h \ge 0$ and there exist two nonzero vectors $v, w \in T^{1,0}_x X$ such that $h_{v\bar{v}w\bar{w}}(x) = 0$, then $H(h)_{v\bar{v}w\bar{w}}(x) \ge 0$.

If h is nonnegative at t = 0, then it remains so. Moreover, if at t = 0, h is positive at one point, then it's positive everywhere for all t > 0.

We omit the proof of Proposition 2.1 since it's a purely partial-differential-equation argument.

Based on Proposition 2.1, Bando [2] (in dimension 3) and Mok [26] (in all dimensions) proved the theorem as follows:

Theorem 2.2. Let $(X^n, g(t))$ be a compact Kähler manifold with g(t) as the solution to Kähler-Ricci flow (normalized or not normalized). Suppose g(0) has nonnegative bisectional curvature, then so does g(t) for all t > 0; furthermore, if g(0) also has bisectional curvature being positive at one point, then g(t) has positive bisectional curvature at $\forall x \in X$ for all t > 0.

We follow the simplified proof by H. Cao ([5], chapter 5):

First recall the evolution equation of the curvature tensor (for convenience, we lower all the indices here):

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}R_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} = \Delta R_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} + R_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} + R_{i\bar{j}a\bar{b}}R_{b\bar{a}k\bar{\ell}} + R_{i\bar{\ell}a\bar{b}}R_{b\bar{a}k\bar{j}} - R_{i\bar{a}k\bar{b}}R_{a\bar{j}b\bar{\ell}} - \frac{1}{2}(R_{i\bar{a}}R_{a\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} + R_{a\bar{j}}R_{i\bar{a}k\bar{\ell}} + R_{k\bar{a}}R_{i\bar{j}a\bar{\ell}} + R_{a\bar{\ell}}R_{i\bar{j}k\bar{a}}).$$
(.1.1)

Note that the normalization of the flow only adds the second term $R_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}}$ on right hand side and doesn't affect the argument here.

Let us denote by

$$H(Rm)_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} \coloneqq R_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} + R_{i\bar{j}a\bar{b}}R_{b\bar{a}k\bar{\ell}} + R_{i\bar{\ell}a\bar{b}}R_{b\bar{a}k\bar{j}} - R_{i\bar{a}k\bar{b}}R_{a\bar{j}b\bar{\ell}} - \frac{1}{2}(R_{i\bar{a}}R_{a\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} + R_{a\bar{j}}R_{i\bar{a}k\bar{\ell}} + R_{k\bar{a}}R_{i\bar{j}a\bar{\ell}} + R_{a\bar{\ell}}R_{i\bar{j}k\bar{a}}), \qquad (.1.2)$$

so that

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}R_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} = \Delta R_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} + H_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}}.$$
(.1.3)

Then by Proposition 2.1, it suffices to show that the property (*) holds: for any $T^{1,0}$ -vectors $V = (v^i)$ and $W = (w^i)$, we have

$$(*) \quad H_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}}v^{i}v^{\bar{j}}w^{k}w^{\bar{\ell}} \ge 0 \quad \text{whenever} \quad R_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}}v^{i}v^{\bar{j}}w^{k}w^{\bar{\ell}} = 0,$$

or simply,

$$H_{V\overline{V}W\overline{W}} \coloneqq H(V,\overline{V},W,\overline{W}) \ge 0$$
 whenever $R_{V\overline{V}W\overline{W}} \coloneqq \operatorname{Rm}(V,\overline{V},W,\overline{W}) = 0.$

We divide the proof into a couple of lemmas:

Lemma 2.3. Assume as in Theorem 2.2. If $R_{V\overline{V}W\overline{W}} = 0$, then we have

$$R_{V\overline{Z}W\overline{W}} = R_{V\overline{V}W\overline{Z}} = 0$$

for any $T^{1,0}$ -vector Z.

Proof of Lemma 2.3. For real parameter $s \in \mathbb{R}$, consider

$$G(s) = \operatorname{Rm}(V + sZ, \overline{V} + s\overline{Z}, W, \overline{W}).$$

Since the bisectional curvature is nonnegative and $R_{V\overline{V}W\overline{W}} = 0$, it follows that G'(0) = 0which implies

Re
$$(R_{V\overline{Z}W\overline{W}}) = 0.$$

Suppose $R_{V\overline{Z}W\overline{W}} \neq 0$, and let $R_{V\overline{Z}W\overline{W}} = |R_{V\overline{Z}W\overline{W}}|e^{\sqrt{-1}\theta}$. Then, replacing Z by $e^{-\sqrt{-1}\theta}Z$ in the above yields

$$0 = \operatorname{Re} \left(e^{-\sqrt{-1\theta}} R_{V\overline{Z}W\overline{W}} \right) = |R_{V\overline{Z}W\overline{W}}|,$$

a contradiction. Thus, we must have

$$R_{V\overline{Z}W\overline{W}} = 0.$$

Similarly, we also have $R_{V\overline{V}W\overline{Z}} = 0$.

By Lemma 2.3, we see that if $R_{V\overline{V}W\overline{W}} = 0$ then

$$H_{V\overline{V}W\overline{W}} = R_{V\overline{V}Y\overline{Z}}R_{Z\overline{Y}W\overline{W}} + |R_{V\overline{W}Y\overline{Z}}|^2 - |R_{V\overline{Y}W\overline{Z}}|^2.$$

Therefore, property (*) follows immediately from the next lemma:

Lemma 2.4. Assume as in Theorem 2.2. Then, for any $T^{1,0}$ -vectors Y and Z,

$$R_{V\overline{V}Y\overline{Z}}R_{Z\overline{Y}W\overline{W}} \ge |R_{V\overline{W}Y\overline{Z}}|^2 + |R_{V\overline{Y}W\overline{Z}}|^2$$

if $R_{V\overline{V}W\overline{W}} = 0$.

Proof of Lemma 2.4. Consider

$$I(s) = \operatorname{Rm}(V + sY, \overline{V} + s\overline{Y}, W + sZ, \overline{W} + s\overline{Z})$$

= $s^2 \left(R_{V\overline{V}Z\overline{Z}} + R_{Y\overline{Y}W\overline{W}} + R_{V\overline{Y}W\overline{Z}} + R_{Y\overline{V}Z\overline{W}} + R_{V\overline{Y}Z\overline{W}} + R_{Y\overline{V}W\overline{Z}} \right)$
+ $O(s^3).$

Here we have used Lemma 2.3.

Since $I(s) \ge 0$ and I(0) = 0, we have $I''(0) \ge 0$. Hence, by taking $Y = \zeta^k e_k$ and $Z = \eta^\ell e_\ell$ with respect to any basis $\{e_1, \dots e_n\}$, we obtain a real, semi-positive definite bilinear form Q(Y, Z):

$$\begin{split} Q(Y,Z) \coloneqq & R_{V\overline{V}Z\overline{Z}} + R_{Y\overline{Y}W\overline{W}} + R_{V\overline{Y}W\overline{Z}} + R_{Y\overline{V}Z\overline{W}} + R_{V\overline{Y}Z\overline{W}} + R_{Y\overline{V}W\overline{Z}} \\ = & R_{V\overline{V}k\overline{\ell}}\eta^k \eta^{\overline{\ell}} + R_{k\overline{\ell}W\overline{W}}\zeta^k \zeta^{\overline{\ell}} + R_{V\overline{k}W\overline{\ell}}\zeta^{\overline{k}}\eta^{\overline{\ell}} + R_{k\overline{V}\ell\overline{W}}\zeta^k \eta^\ell \\ & + R_{V\overline{k}\ell\overline{W}}\zeta^{\overline{k}}\eta^\ell + R_{k\overline{V}W\overline{\ell}}\zeta^k \eta^{\overline{\ell}} \ge 0. \end{split}$$

Next, we need a useful linear algebra fact :

Proposition 2.5. Let M and N be two $m \times m$ real symmetric semi-positive definite matrices,

and let K be a real $m \times m$ matrix such that the $2m \times 2m$ real symmetric matrix

$$P_1 = \left(\begin{array}{cc} M & K \\ K^T & N \end{array}\right)$$

is semi-positive definite. Then, we have

$$\operatorname{Tr}(MN) \ge \operatorname{Tr}(K^T K) = |K|^2.$$

Proof of Proposition 2.5. Consider the associated matrix

$$P_2 = \left(\begin{array}{cc} N & -K \\ -K^T & M \end{array}\right),$$

it is clear that P_2 is also symmetric and semi-positive definite. Thus, we get

$$\operatorname{Tr}(P_1 P_2) \ge 0.$$

However,

$$P_1 P_2 = \begin{pmatrix} MN - KK^T & KM - MK \\ K^T N - NK^T & NM - K^TK \end{pmatrix};$$

therefore,

$$\operatorname{Tr}(MN) - |K|^2 = \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Tr}(P_1 P_2) \ge 0.$$

As a special case, by taking

$$P_1 = \begin{pmatrix} ReA & ImA & Re(B+D) & Im(B-D) \\ -ImA & ReA & -Im(B+D) & Re(B-D) \\ Re(B+D)^T & -Im(B+D)^T & ReC & ImC \\ Im(B-D)^T & Re(B-D)^T & -ImC & ReC \end{pmatrix}$$

,

we immediately obtain the following :

Corollary 2.6. Let A, B, C, D be complex matrices with A and C being Hermitian. Suppose that the (real) quadratic form

$$A_{k\bar{\ell}}\eta^k\overline{\eta^\ell} + C_{k\bar{\ell}}\zeta^k\overline{\zeta^\ell} + 2Re(B_{k\bar{\ell}}\eta^k\overline{\zeta^\ell}) + 2Re(D_{k\ell}\eta^k\zeta^\ell), \quad \eta, \zeta \in \mathbb{C}^n,$$

is semi-positive definite. If we write everthing out in real coordinates and use Proposition 2.5, we would have

$$Tr(AC) \ge |B|^2 + |D|^2,$$

i.e.

$$\sum_{k,\ell} A_{k\bar{\ell}} C_{\ell\bar{k}} \ge \sum_{k,\ell} |B_{k\bar{\ell}}|^2 + |D_{k\ell}|^2.$$

Now, by applying Corollary 2.6 to the above real semi-positive definite bilinear form Q, we get

$$R_{V\overline{V}Y\overline{Z}}R_{Z\overline{Y}W\overline{W}} \ge |R_{V\overline{W}Y\overline{Z}}|^2 + |R_{V\overline{Y}W\overline{Z}}|^2.$$

By Theorem 2.2, if the NKRF starting from any Kähler metric with positive bisectional curvature CONVERGES, then the limit metric would be a K-E metric with positive bisectional curvature. From a classical result of Goldberg-Kobayashi ([18], Theorem 5), such metric must be globally isometric to the Fubini-Study metric. Thus, the underlying manifold is biholomorphic to complex projective space. In other words, the convergence of NKRF with positive bisectional curvature implies the Frankel conjecture.

To prove the convergence, we wish to show that the conditions (A) and (C) (in Chapter 1) hold under positive bisectional curvature, due to Corollary 1.16. Before trying to do that, we first strengthen our curvature condition, as in the following two subsections.

.1.2 On the lower bound of bisectional curvature

In the last subsection we already know the positivity of bisectional curvature is preserved under NKRF. It will be interesting to study how the lower bound of bisectional curvature behaves along NKRF, if the initial metric has bisectional curvature bounded below from 0. The following theorem is due to Chen-Sun-Tian [10]:

Theorem 2.7. Let $(X^n, g(t))$ be a compact Kähler manifold with g(t) as the solution to NKRF. Suppose that along the flow g(t) has positive bisectional curvature, and the Ricci curvature of g(t) satisfies $Ric(g(t)) \ge Cg(t)$ for a uniform constant C > 0. Then the bisectional curvature of g(t) has a uniform positive lower bound.

Remark 2.8. To study the lower bound of bisectional curvature under NKRF, it's natural to think of computing the evolution equation of tensor $R_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} - c(t)(g_{i\bar{j}}g_{k\bar{\ell}} + g_{i\bar{\ell}}g_{k\bar{j}})$; in fact, this idea was carried out by X. Chen [9], where he obtained some pinching estimates for holomorphic sectional and bisectional curvatures. In our case, Chen-Sun-Tian considered a different tensor to deal with and got the above result.

Proof of Theorem 2.7. First recall the NKRF equation and evolutions of curvatures:

$$\begin{split} &\frac{\partial}{\partial t}g_{i\bar{j}} = -R_{i\bar{j}} + g_{i\bar{j}};\\ &\frac{\partial}{\partial t}R = \Delta R + |Ric|^2 - R;\\ &\frac{\partial}{\partial t}Ric = \Delta Ric + Ric \cdot Rm - Ric^2; \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} \frac{\partial}{\partial t}R_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} =& \Delta R_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} + R_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} + R_{i\bar{j}a\bar{b}}R_{b\bar{a}k\bar{\ell}} + R_{i\bar{\ell}a\bar{b}}R_{b\bar{a}k\bar{j}} - R_{i\bar{a}k\bar{b}}R_{a\bar{j}b\bar{\ell}} \\ &- \frac{1}{2}(R_{i\bar{a}}R_{a\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} + R_{a\bar{j}}R_{i\bar{a}k\bar{\ell}} + R_{k\bar{a}}R_{i\bar{j}a\bar{\ell}} + R_{a\bar{\ell}}R_{i\bar{j}k\bar{a}}). \end{split}$$

Here we define

$$(Ric \cdot Rm)_{i\bar{j}} \coloneqq R_{b\bar{a}} R_{i\bar{j}a\bar{b}}, \tag{1.4}$$

and

$$(Ric^2)_{i\bar{j}} \coloneqq R_{i\bar{k}}R_{k\bar{j}}.$$
(.1.5)

Now we put $S \coloneqq Rm - c(g * Ric)$, where c is a function of t, and

$$(g * Ric)_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} \coloneqq g_{i\bar{j}}R_{k\bar{\ell}} + g_{k\bar{\ell}}R_{i\bar{j}} + g_{i\bar{\ell}}R_{k\bar{j}} + g_{k\bar{j}}R_{i\bar{\ell}}.$$
(.1.6)

We shall compute the evolution of tensor $S_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}}$ and use maximum principle.

Taking trace on tensor S yields

$$S_{k\bar{\ell}} = (1 - (n+2)c)R_{k\bar{\ell}} - cR \cdot g_{k\bar{\ell}},$$

if we denote by $Sic_{k\bar{\ell}} \coloneqq g^{\bar{j}i}S_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}}$, then we can write the above equation as

$$Sic = (1 - (n+2)c)Ric - cR \cdot g.$$
 (.1.7)

Therefore, by a straightforward calculation, we obtain

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} R_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} = \Delta S_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} + H(S)_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} + c(g * Ric)_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} + c(g * \Delta Ric)_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} + c(g * Ric)_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} + c[(g * (Ric \cdot S))_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} + (Ric * Sic)_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}}] + I - c[(Ric * Ric)_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} + (Ric^2 * g)_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}}],$$
(.1.8)

where $H(S)_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}}$ is defined as (.1.2) with $R_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}}$ replaced by $S_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}}$:

$$\begin{split} H(S)_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} \coloneqq & S_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} + S_{i\bar{j}a\bar{b}}S_{b\bar{a}k\bar{\ell}} + S_{i\bar{\ell}a\bar{b}}S_{b\bar{a}k\bar{j}} - S_{i\bar{a}k\bar{b}}S_{a\bar{j}b\bar{\ell}} \\ & -\frac{1}{2}(R_{i\bar{a}}S_{a\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} + R_{a\bar{j}}S_{i\bar{a}k\bar{\ell}} + R_{k\bar{a}}S_{i\bar{j}a\bar{\ell}} + R_{a\bar{\ell}}S_{i\bar{j}k\bar{a}}), \end{split}$$

and

$$I \coloneqq c^{2}[(g * Ric)_{i\bar{j}a\bar{b}}(g * Ric)_{b\bar{a}k\bar{\ell}} + (g * Ric)_{i\bar{\ell}a\bar{b}}(g * Ric)_{b\bar{a}k\bar{j}} - (g * Ric)_{i\bar{a}k\bar{b}}(g * Ric)_{a\bar{j}b\bar{\ell}}].$$

$$(.1.9)$$

We also calculate:

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} (-c(g * Ric)_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}}) = -c'(g * Ric)_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} - c(\frac{\partial g}{\partial t} * Ric)_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} - c(g * \frac{\partial Ric}{\partial t})_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}}$$

$$= -c'(g * Ric)_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} - c(g * Ric)_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} + c(Ric * Ric)_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}}$$

$$-c(g * (\Delta Ric))_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} - c(g * (Ric \cdot Rm))_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}}$$

$$+ c(g * (Ric^{2}))_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}}.$$
(.1.10)

It follows from $(.1.8) \sim (.1.10)$ that

$$\begin{split} \frac{\partial}{\partial t} S_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} =& \Delta S_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} + H(S)_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} + c(g * \Delta Ric)_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} + c(g * Ric)_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} \\ &+ c[(g * (Ric \cdot S))_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} + (Ric * Sic)_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}}] + I \\ &- c[(Ric * Ric)_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} + (Ric^2 * g)_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}}] \\ &- c'(g * Ric)_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} - c(g * Ric)_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} + c(Ric * Ric)_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} \\ &- c(g * (\Delta Ric))_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} - c(g * (Ric \cdot Rm))_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} + c(g * (Ric^2))_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} \\ &= \Delta S_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} + H(S)_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} + c^2(g * (Ric \cdot (g * Ric))_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} \\ &+ c(Ric * Sic)_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} + I - c'(g * Ric)_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} \\ &= \Delta S_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} + H(S)_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} + c^2(g * (Ric \cdot (g * Ric)))_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} \\ &+ c(Ric * Ric)_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} - c^2(Ric * ((n+2)Ric + R \cdot g))_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} \\ &+ I - c'(g * Ric)_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}}. \end{split}$$

Note that $I = O(c^2)$. Since $Ric(g(t)) \ge Cg(t)$ for $t \ge 0$, if $c(t) \equiv c > 0$ is sufficiently small, we have

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} S_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} \ge \Delta S_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} + H(S)_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}}.$$
(.1.11)

Now apply the same proof of Theorem 2.2 with $R_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}}$ replaced by $S_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}}$, we see $H(S)_{i\bar{i}j\bar{j}} \ge 0$ whenever $S_{i\bar{i}j\bar{j}} = 0$. Then by Proposition 2.1, $S_{i\bar{i}j\bar{j}} \ge 0$ for all $t \ge 0$, i.e. $R_{i\bar{i}j\bar{j}} \ge c(g*Ric)_{i\bar{i}j\bar{j}} \ge c \cdot C(g*g)_{i\bar{i}j\bar{j}}$.

.1.3 On the lower bound of Ricci curvature

Theorem 2.7 tells us that a positive lower bound of bisectional curvature is preserved under NKRF, provided that the Ricci curvature is uniformly bounded below from 0. Of course we wish to remove this extra condition. It was done by Cao-Zhu [8]:

Theorem 2.9. Let $(X^n, g(t))$ be a compact Kähler manifold with g(t) as the solution to NKRF. Suppose that along the flow g(t) has positive bisectional curvature. Then the Ricci curvature of g(t) satisfies $Ric(g(t)) \ge Cg(t)$ for a uniform constant C > 0.

Putting Theorem 2.2, Theorem 2.7 and Theorem 2.9 together, we get a satisfactory curvature pinching estimate:

Corollary 2.10. Let $(X^n, g(t))$ be a compact Kähler manifold with g(t) as the solution to NKRF. Suppose that g(0) has positive bisectional curvature. Then the bisectional curvature of g(t) has a uniform positive lower bound along the flow.

To prove Theorem 2.9, we need first invoke the so-called 'Hamilton's compactness theorem' ([21], Main Theorem 1.2):

Theorem 2.11. Let $\{X_k\} = \{(X_k, g_k, x_k, E^k)\}$ be a sequence of evolving complete marked Riemannian manifolds which are solutions to the Ricci flow. Here X is the underlying manifold, g is the Riemannian metric, x is a marked point on X and E is an orthonormal frame at x at t = 0 with respect to g(0).

Suppose that:

- (i) The Riemann curvature tensors of X_k are uniformly bounded by a constant A for all k and all t ≥ 0;
- (ii) The injectivity radii of X_k at the x_k at time t = 0 are uniformly bounded below by a constant $\delta > 0$ for all k.

Then there exists a subsequence which converges to an evolving complete marked Riemannian manifold $\tilde{X} = (X, \tilde{g}, \tilde{x}, \tilde{E})$ which is also a solution of the Ricci flow, with its Riemann curvature tensors bounded above by A and its injectivity radius at x at time t = 0 bounded below by δ .

Proof of Theorem 2.9. We argue by contradiction. Suppose the conclusion is not true. Then we can find a sequence of positive numbers $\epsilon_k \to 0$, and a sequence of points $\{(x_k, t_k)\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ in space-time with $x_k \in X$ and $t_k \to \infty$ as $k \to \infty$, such that

$$\min_{1 \le i,j \le n} R_{i\bar{j}}(x_k, t_k) \le \epsilon_k.$$

Now we can choose a unitary frame $E^k = \{e_1^k, \cdots, e_n^k\}$ at the point x_k and the time t_k so that

$$R_{1\bar{1}}(x_k, t_k) = \min_{1 \le i \le n} R_{i\bar{i}}(x_k, t_k).$$

By Perelman's result (or by Cao-Chen-Zhu [7], see also chapter 5 in [5]), the scalar curvature of g(t) is uniformly bounded. Since g(t) has positive bisectional curvature, its bisectional curvatures are also uniformly bounded, and then so are all its curvature tensors. The condition (i) in Theorem 2.11 is satisfied. As for condition (ii), the injectivity radii are uniformly bounded by Perelman's non-collapsing theorem.

Thus we can apply Theorem 2.11, with adding the complex structure J into the data of X. Namely, for a sequence of compact marked solutions $\{(X, J, g(t_k + t), x_k, E^k)\}$ to NKRF with positive bisectional curvature, there exists a subsequence converges to a compact marked solution $\tilde{X} = (X, \tilde{J}, \tilde{g}(t), \tilde{x}, \tilde{E})$ to NKRF with nonnegative bisectional curvature $\tilde{R}_{i\bar{i}j\bar{j}} \geq 0$

and

$$\ddot{R}_{1\bar{1}}(\tilde{x},0) = \lim_{k \to \infty} R_{1\bar{1}}(x_k, t_k) = 0.$$
(.1.12)

Here \tilde{E} is a unitary frame at the marked point \tilde{x} at t = 0, and \tilde{J} is a complex structure on X, possibly different from J.

Now we use the following result of H. Gu ([19], Theorem 1.2):

Proposition 2.12. Given any Kähler metric $h_{i\bar{j}}$ with nonnegative bisectional curvature on a compact, irreducible, simply connected Kähler manifold M^n . Then, under the NKRF, either the bisectional curvature becomes positive everywhere after a short time, or (M^n, h) is isometrically biholomorphic to a Hermitian symmetric space of rank ≥ 2 .

We know that any compact Fano Kähler manifold is simply connected, by Yau's solution to Calabi conjecture [35] and a result of Kobayashi [23]. Also, by a theorem of Bishop-Goldberg [4] (see also [18], Theorem 4), the second betti number of X is 1. Hence, X is irreducible.

On the other hand, since (X, \tilde{g}) has nonnegative bisectional curvature, (.1.12) tells us that for $\forall t \in [0, \infty)$, the bisectional curvature $\tilde{R}_{i\bar{i}j\bar{j}}(t)$ vanishes along some direction at some point on X at t. Therefore, Proposition 2.12 implies that $(X, \tilde{J}, \tilde{g})$ is isometrically biholomorphic to a Hermitian symmetric space of rank ≥ 2 .

This would lead to a contradiction, because \tilde{g} is Kähler-Einstein, i.e., $\tilde{R}_{i\bar{j}} = \tilde{g}_{i\bar{j}}$, in turn implies that

$$||R_{i\bar{j}} - g_{i\bar{j}}||_{C^0}(t_k) \to 0,$$

contradicting (.1.12). This finishes the proof of Theorem 2.9.

Now, remember that we already have Corollary 1.16 and Corollary 2.10 in hand. Therefore, in order to prove Frankel conjecture by Kähler-Ricci flow, we just need to show that a positive lower bound of bisectional curvature implies:

(A) The vanishing of Futaki invariant on $\pi c_1(X)$;

and

(C) A positive lower bound of the lowest positive eigenvalue μ of operator $-g^{\bar{j}i}\nabla_i\nabla_{\bar{j}}$ on smooth $T^{1,0}$ -vector fields.

We will prove the (C) part in next section, following Phong-Song-Sturm-Weinkove [30]; however, the (A) part is still open up to today. It remains the only missing step of this incomplete proof.

.2 Curvature and Stability Conditions

.2.1 The lower bound of μ

We follow Phong-Song-Sturm-Weinkove [30] here. To connect bisectional curvature and the lower bound of μ , we need two steps: the first is to derive the curvature condition which implies a lower bound of μ , by some standard Bochner-type technique; the second is to relate the bisectional curvature with that curvature condition.

We introduce some notions of positivity. A tensor $T_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}}$ is called *Griffiths* nonnegative if

$$T_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}}v^iv^{\bar{j}}w^kw^{\bar{\ell}} \ge 0 \tag{(.2.1)}$$

for all $T^{1,0}$ -vectors v, w. For brevity we write $T_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} \geq_{Gr} 0$. It's obvious that $R_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} \geq_{Gr} 0$ means the condition of nonnegative bisectional curvature.

We say that a tensor $T_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}}$ is Nakano nonnegative if

$$T_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}}h^{ik}h^{\bar{j}\bar{\ell}} \ge 0 \tag{(.2.2)}$$

for any $T^{1,0} \otimes T^{1,0}$ -tensor h, and we write $T_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} \ge_{Na} 0$ for short. Clearly Nakano nonnegativity is stronger than *Griffiths* nonnegativity.

Next lemma describes the curvature condition which guarantees a positive lower bound for μ :

Lemma 2.13. Suppose that a Kähler metric g satisfies

$$R_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} + R_{i\bar{j}}g_{k\bar{\ell}} - c\,g_{i\bar{j}}g_{k\bar{\ell}} \ge_{Na} 0 \tag{2.3}$$

for some constant c > 0. Then $\mu \ge c$.

Proof of Lemma 2.13. Recall the commutation rules:

$$\begin{aligned} (\nabla_i \nabla_{\bar{\ell}} - \nabla_{\bar{\ell}} \nabla_i) V^k &= g^{\bar{n}k} R_{i\bar{\ell}m\bar{n}} V^m, \\ (\nabla_i \nabla_{\bar{\ell}} - \nabla_{\bar{\ell}} \nabla_i) w_{\bar{j}} &= g^{\bar{q}p} R_{i\bar{\ell}p\bar{j}} w_{\bar{q}}. \end{aligned}$$

Let V be an eigenvector of the operator $-g^{\bar{j}i}\nabla_i\nabla_{\bar{j}}$ with eigenvalue μ ; then

$$-g^{\bar{j}i}\nabla_i\nabla_{\bar{j}}V^k = \mu V^k. \tag{2.4}$$

Applying $\nabla_{\bar{\ell}}$ and using the commutation rules yield

$$-g^{\bar{j}i}\nabla_i\nabla_{\bar{\ell}}\nabla_{\bar{\ell}}\nabla_{\bar{j}}V^k + g^{\bar{j}i}g^{\bar{n}k}R_{i\bar{\ell}m\bar{n}}\nabla_{\bar{j}}V^m + g^{\bar{j}i}g^{\bar{q}p}R_{i\bar{\ell}p\bar{j}}\nabla_{\bar{q}}V^k = \mu\nabla_{\bar{\ell}}V^k.$$
(.2.5)

Multiply by $g^{\overline{\ell}r}g_{k\overline{s}}\nabla_{r}\overline{V^{s}}$ to obtain

$$-g^{\bar{\ell}r}g_{k\bar{s}}g^{\bar{j}i}\nabla_{r}\overline{V^{s}}\nabla_{i}\nabla_{\bar{\ell}}\nabla_{\bar{j}}V^{k} + g^{\bar{\ell}r}g^{\bar{j}i}R_{i\bar{\ell}m\bar{s}}\nabla_{r}\overline{V^{s}}\nabla_{\bar{j}}V^{m} +g^{\bar{\ell}r}g_{k\bar{s}}g^{\bar{q}p}R_{p\bar{\ell}}\nabla_{r}\overline{V^{s}}\nabla_{\bar{q}}V^{k} = \mu g^{\bar{\ell}r}g_{k\bar{s}}\nabla_{r}\overline{V^{s}}\nabla_{\bar{\ell}}V^{k}.$$
(2.6)

By (.2.3), after integrating by parts:

$$\mu \int_X |\nabla_{\bar{\ell}} V^k|^2 \omega^n \ge c \int_X |\nabla_{\bar{\ell}} V^k|^2 \omega^n + \int_X |\nabla_{\bar{\ell}} \nabla_{\bar{j}} V^k|^2 \omega^n,$$
(.2.7)

and hence $\mu \geq c$.

We have a version for the lowest positive eigenvalue $\tilde{\mu}$ of operator $-g^{\bar{j}i}\nabla_i\nabla_j + g^{\bar{j}i}\nabla_i u \cdot \nabla_{\bar{j}}$ on smooth $T^{1,0}$ -vector fields as well (though we won't use it later): Lemma 2.14. Suppose that a Kähler metric g satisfies

$$R_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} + (1-\tilde{c})g_{i\bar{j}}g_{k\bar{\ell}} \ge_{Na} 0 \tag{(.2.8)}$$

for some constant $\tilde{c} > 0$. Then $\tilde{\mu} \geq \tilde{c}$.

Proof of Lemma 2.14. Recall that u is the Ricci potential. Let V be an eigenvector of $-g^{\bar{j}i}\nabla_i\nabla_{\bar{j}} + g^{\bar{j}i}\nabla_i u \cdot \nabla_{\bar{j}}$ with eigenvalue $\tilde{\mu}$. Then

$$-g^{\bar{j}i}\nabla_i\nabla_{\bar{j}}V^k + g^{\bar{j}i}\nabla_i u \cdot \nabla_{\bar{j}}V^k = \tilde{\mu}V^k.$$
(.2.9)

Applying $\nabla_{\bar{\ell}}$ as before, using the commutation rules and the definition of u we have

$$-g^{\bar{j}i}\nabla_i\nabla_{\bar{\ell}}\nabla_{\bar{j}}V^k + g^{\bar{j}i}g^{\bar{n}k}R_{i\bar{\ell}m\bar{n}}\nabla_{\bar{j}}V^m + g^{\bar{j}i}g^{\bar{q}p}R_{i\bar{\ell}p\bar{j}}\nabla_{\bar{q}}V^k$$
$$+g^{\bar{j}i}\nabla_{\bar{\ell}}\nabla_{\bar{j}}V^k\nabla_i u + \nabla_{\bar{\ell}}V^k - g^{\bar{j}i}R_{i\bar{\ell}}\nabla_{\bar{j}}V^k = \tilde{\mu}\nabla_{\bar{\ell}}V^k.$$
(.2.10)

Multiply by $g^{\overline{\ell}r}g_{k\overline{s}}\nabla_{r}\overline{V^{s}}$ to obtain

$$-g^{\bar{\ell}r}g_{k\bar{s}}g^{\bar{j}i}\nabla_{r}\overline{V^{s}}\nabla_{i}\nabla_{\bar{\ell}}\nabla_{\bar{j}}V^{k} + (R_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} + g_{i\bar{j}}g_{k\bar{\ell}})\nabla^{\bar{j}}\overline{V^{\ell}}\nabla^{i}V^{k} + g^{\bar{\ell}r}g_{k\bar{s}}g^{\bar{j}i}\nabla_{r}\overline{V^{s}}\nabla_{\bar{\ell}}\nabla_{\bar{j}}V^{k}\nabla_{i}u = \tilde{\mu}g^{\bar{\ell}r}g_{k\bar{s}}\nabla_{r}\overline{V^{s}}\nabla_{\bar{\ell}}V^{k}.$$
(2.11)

Using (.2.8) and integrating with respect to $e^{-u}\omega^n$ yield

$$\tilde{\mu} \int_{X} |\nabla_{\bar{\ell}} V^k|^2 e^{-u} \omega^n \ge \tilde{c} \int_{X} |\nabla_{\bar{\ell}} V^k|^2 e^{-u} \omega^n + \int_{X} |\nabla_{\bar{\ell}} \nabla_{\bar{j}} V^k|^2 e^{-u} \omega^n, \qquad (.2.12)$$

and hence $\tilde{\mu} \geq \tilde{c}$.

We also need the following proposition:

Proposition 2.15. Let (X^n, g) be a compact Kähler manifold. Suppose that the curvature of metric g satisfies

$$R_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} - c g_{i\bar{j}}g_{k\bar{\ell}} \ge_{Gr} 0 \tag{2.13}$$

for some constant c > 0. Then

$$R_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} + R_{i\bar{j}}g_{k\bar{\ell}} - n c g_{i\bar{j}}g_{k\bar{\ell}} \ge_{Na} 0.$$
(.2.14)

Proposition 2.15 along with Lemma 2.13 would fulfill our purpose:

Theorem 2.16. Let (X^n, g) be a compact Kähler manifold. Suppose that the bisectional curvature of metric g has a positive lower bound:

 $R_{i\bar{i}j\bar{j}} \ge c \, g_{i\bar{i}} g_{j\bar{j}}$

for some constant c > 0. Then μ has a positive lower bound:

$$\mu \geq n c.$$

Proposition 2.15 is the analogy of a result by Demailly-Skoda [14] (see also [13], Proposition 10.14). It requires the following lemma ([13], Lemma 10.15):

Lemma 2.17. Let $q \ge 3$ be an integer and let x^{λ}, y^{λ} for $1 \le \lambda \le n$ be complex numbers. Let U_q^n be the set of n-tuples of qth roots of unity and define complex numbers

$$x'_{(\sigma)} = \sum_{\lambda=1}^{n} x^{\lambda} \overline{\sigma_{\lambda}}, \quad y'_{(\sigma)} = \sum_{\lambda=1}^{n} y^{\lambda} \overline{\sigma_{\lambda}}, \quad \text{for each } \sigma = (\sigma_1, \dots, \sigma_n) \in U_q^n.$$

Then for every pair (α, β) with $1 \leq \alpha, \beta \leq n$, the following holds:

$$q^{-n}\sum_{\sigma\in U_q^n} x'_{(\sigma)}\overline{y'_{(\sigma)}}\sigma_{\alpha}\overline{\sigma_{\beta}} = \begin{cases} x^{\alpha}\overline{y^{\beta}}, & \text{if } \alpha \neq \beta;\\ \sum_{\lambda=1}^n x^{\lambda}\overline{y^{\lambda}}, & \text{if } \alpha = \beta. \end{cases}$$
(.2.15)

Proof of Lemma 2.17. We only require the following elementary claim: the coefficient of $x^{\gamma}\overline{y^{\delta}}$ in the left hand side of (.2.15) is $q^{-n}\sum_{\sigma\in U_q^n}\sigma_{\alpha}\overline{\sigma_{\beta}}\overline{\sigma_{\gamma}}\sigma_{\delta}$, and this is equal to 1 if $\{\alpha, \delta\} = \{\beta, \gamma\}$ and 0 otherwise. Indeed, for the second alternative, assume without loss of generality that $\alpha \notin \{\beta, \gamma\}$ and then observe that

$$\sum_{\sigma \in U_q^n} \sigma_\alpha \overline{\sigma_\beta} \,\overline{\sigma_\gamma} \sigma_\delta = \begin{cases} e^{2\pi i/q} \sum_{\sigma \in U_q^n} \sigma_\alpha \overline{\sigma_\beta} \,\overline{\sigma_\gamma} \sigma_\delta, & \alpha \neq \delta; \\ e^{4\pi i/q} \sum_{\sigma \in U_q^n} \sigma_\alpha \overline{\sigma_\beta} \,\overline{\sigma_\gamma} \sigma_\delta, & \alpha = \delta. \end{cases}$$
(.2.16)

To get (.2.16), replace σ by the element of U_q^n obtained by multiplying the α component of σ by $e^{2\pi i/q}$.

Proof of Proposition 2.15. For convenience, assume that we are calculating at a point where $g_{i\bar{j}} = \delta_{ij}$. Fix a $T^{1,0} \otimes T^{1,0}$ -tensor h, we want to show

$$(R_{i\bar{j}k\bar{\ell}} + R_{i\bar{j}}g_{k\bar{\ell}} - n c g_{i\bar{j}}g_{k\bar{\ell}})h^{ik}h^{\bar{j}\bar{\ell}} \ge 0.$$
(.2.17)

Define vectors

$$V_{(\sigma)} = V_{(\sigma)}^{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial z^{i}} \quad \text{with components} \quad V_{(\sigma)}^{i} = \sum_{\lambda=1}^{n} h^{i\lambda} \overline{\sigma_{\lambda}} \in \mathbb{C};$$
$$W_{(\sigma)} = W_{(\sigma)}^{k} \frac{\partial}{\partial z^{k}} \quad \text{with components} \quad W_{(\sigma)}^{k} = \sigma_{k} \in \mathbb{C}.$$

Then, by assumption (.2.13),

$$\begin{split} 0 &\leq \sum_{i,j,k,\ell} (R_{i\overline{j}k\overline{\ell}} - c \, g_{i\overline{j}}g_{k\overline{\ell}})q^{-n} \sum_{\sigma \in U_q^n} V_{(\sigma)}^i \overline{V_{(\sigma)}^j} W_{(\sigma)}^k \overline{W_{(\sigma)}^\ell} \\ &= \sum_{i,j} \sum_{k \neq \ell} R_{i\overline{j}k\overline{\ell}}q^{-n} \sum_{\sigma \in U_q^n} V_{(\sigma)}^i \overline{V_{(\sigma)}^j} \sigma_k \overline{\sigma_\ell} \\ &+ \sum_{i,j} \sum_{k = \ell} (R_{i\overline{j}k\overline{\ell}} - c \, g_{i\overline{j}}g_{k\overline{\ell}})q^{-n} \sum_{\sigma \in U_q^n} V_{(\sigma)}^i \overline{V_{(\sigma)}^j} \sigma_k \overline{\sigma_\ell} \\ &= \sum_{i,j} \sum_{k \neq \ell} R_{i\overline{j}k\overline{\ell}}h^{ik}h^{\overline{j\ell}} + \sum_{i,j,k} (R_{i\overline{j}} - n \, c \, g_{i\overline{j}})h^{ik}h^{\overline{jk}}, \end{split}$$

where we have made use of Lemma 2.17 on the second equality. Hence

$$(R_{i\overline{j}k\overline{\ell}} + R_{i\overline{j}}g_{k\overline{\ell}} - n c g_{i\overline{j}}g_{k\overline{\ell}})h^{ik}h^{j\ell}$$
$$= \sum_{i,j}\sum_{k} R_{i\overline{j}k\overline{k}}h^{ik}h^{\overline{jk}} + \sum_{i,j}\sum_{k\neq\ell} R_{i\overline{j}k\overline{\ell}}h^{ik}h^{\overline{j\ell}} + \sum_{i,j,k} (R_{i\overline{j}} - n c g_{i\overline{j}})h^{ik}h^{\overline{jk}} \ge 0,$$

since the first term on right hand side is nonnegative by the assumption of nonnegative bisectional curvature. $\hfill \Box$

.2.2 The vanishing of Futaki invariant

Unfortunately, up to now we still don't know how to directly prove that the positivity of bisectional curvature implies the vanishing of Futaki invariant.

Putting Corollary 1.16, Corollary 2.10 and Theorem 2.16 together gives us the following conclusion (Phong-Song-Sturm-Weinkove [30], Cao-Zhu [8]):

Theorem 2.18. Let (X^n, g) be a compact Kähler manifold with positive bisectional curvature and vanished Futaki invariant on $\pi c_1(X)$. If we run the NKRF on X, it converges to the Fubini-Study metric. Thus X is biholomorphic to \mathbb{CP}^n .

.3 An Alternative Attempt

It's hard to find the direct relation of bisectional curvature and holomorphic invariant. So we want to try something different. The following result is proved by the author, as the first step of an alternative attempt to a Kähler-Ricci flow proof of Frankel conjecture:

Proposition 2.19. Let $(X^n, g(t))$ be a compact Fano Kähler manifold with g(t) as the solution to NKRF with positive bisectional curvature. Assume that $||R(t) - n||_{L^2}$ converges exponentially fast to 0 along the flow. Then the NKRF converges to the Fubini-Study metric.

Proof of Proposition 2.19. From Proposition 1.1, the exponential decay of $||R(t) - n||_{C^0}$ to 0 implies the convergence of NKRF. Then we just need to show that $||R(t) - n||_{C^0}$ is controlled by $||R(t) - n||_{L^2}$. The argument resembles the proof of Proposition 1.4 (ii).

We can take $A = ||R - n||_{C^0} = |R - n|(x_1)$. Then $|R - n| \ge \frac{A}{2}$ on the ball $B_r(x_1)$ of radius $r = \frac{A}{2||\nabla R||_{C^0}}$ centered at x_1 . If $r < \rho$, where ρ is some fixed uniform radius in Perelman's non-collapsing theorem, then

$$\int_{X} (R-n)^{2} \omega^{n} \ge \int_{B_{r}(x_{1})} \frac{A^{2}}{4} \omega^{n} \ge c \frac{A^{2}}{4} \left(\frac{A}{2\|\nabla R\|_{C^{0}}}\right)^{2n}$$
(.3.1)

and thus

$$||R - n||_{C^0}^{n+1} \leq C_1 ||\nabla R||_{C^0}^n ||R - n||_{L^2}.$$
(.3.2)

By Cao-Chen-Zhu [7], all curvature tensors are uniformly bounded along NKRF with nonnegative bisectional curvature. Due to W. Shi's estimate ([33], Theorem 1.1), the derivatives of curvature tensors are also uniformly bounded. Hence

$$||R - n||_{C^0}^{n+1} \leq C_1 ||\nabla R||_{C^0}^n ||R - n||_{L^2} \leq C ||R - n||_{L^2}.$$
(.3.3)

On the other hand, if $r > \rho$, then integrating over the ball $B_{\rho}(x_1)$ gives

$$\int_{X} (R-n)^{2} \omega^{n} \ge \int_{B_{\rho}(x_{1})} \frac{A^{2}}{4} \omega^{n} = \frac{A^{2}}{4} \int_{B_{\rho}(x_{1})} \omega^{n}$$
(.3.4)

and hence $||R - n||_{C^0} \le C_2 ||R - n||_{L^2}$.

In either way, the exponential decay of $||R(t) - n||_{L^2}$ implies the exponential decay of $||R(t) - n||_{C^0}$.

Remark 2.20. In the above proposition, we actually only used the uniform boundness, but not the positivity of bisectional curvature. More work needs to be done on connecting the condition in Proposition 2.19 and the positivity of bisectional curvature.

Bibliography

- T. Aubin, Équations du type Monge-Ampère sur les variétés kähleriennes compactes, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. A-B 283 (1976), no. 3, Aiii, A119–A121. MR0433520
- S. Bando, On the classification of three-dimensional compact Kaehler manifolds of nonnegative bisectional curvature, J. Differential Geom. 19 (1984), no. 2, 283–297. MR755227
- [3] _____, The K-energy map, almost Einstein Kähler metrics and an inequality of the Miyaoka-Yau type, Tohoku Math. J. (2) 39 (1987), no. 2, 231–235, DOI 10.2748/tmj/1178228326. MR887939
- [4] R. L. Bishop and S. I. Goldberg, On the second cohomology group of a Kaehler manifold of positive curvature, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 16 (1965), 119–122, DOI 10.2307/2034011. MR0172221
- [5] S. Boucksom, P. Eyssidieux, and V. Guedj (eds.), An introduction to the Kähler-Ricci flow, Lecture Notes in Mathematics, vol. 2086, Springer, Cham, 2013. MR3202578
- [6] H. D. Cao, Deformation of Kähler metrics to Kähler-Einstein metrics on compact Kähler manifolds, Invent. Math. 81 (1985), no. 2, 359–372, DOI 10.1007/BF01389058. MR799272
- H.-D. Cao, B.-L. Chen, and X.-P. Zhu, Ricci flow on compact Kähler manifolds of positive bisectional curvature, C. R. Math. Acad. Sci. Paris 337 (2003), no. 12, 781–784, DOI 10.1016/j.crma.2003.09.030 (English, with English and French summaries). MR2033119
- [8] H.-D. Cao and M. Zhu, A note on compact Kähler-Ricci flow with positive bisectional curvature, Math. Res. Lett. 16 (2009), no. 6, 935–939, DOI 10.4310/MRL.2009.v16.n6.a2. MR2576682
- [9] X. X. Chen, On Kähler manifolds with positive orthogonal bisectional curvature, Adv. Math. 215 (2007), no. 2, 427–445, DOI 10.1016/j.aim.2006.11.006. MR2355611
- [10] X. Chen, S. Sun, and G. Tian, A note on Kähler-Ricci soliton, Int. Math. Res. Not. IMRN 17 (2009), 3328–3336, DOI 10.1093/imrp/rnp056. MR2535001

- [11] X. X. Chen and G. Tian, *Ricci flow on Kähler-Einstein surfaces*, Invent. Math. 147 (2002), no. 3, 487–544, DOI 10.1007/s002220100181. MR1893004
- [12] _____, Ricci flow on Kähler-Einstein manifolds, Duke Math. J. 131 (2006), no. 1, 17–73, DOI 10.1215/S0012-7094-05-13112-X. MR2219236
- [13] J.-P. Demailly, Multiplier ideal sheaves and analytic methods in algebraic geometry, School on Vanishing Theorems and Effective Results in Algebraic Geometry (Trieste, 2000), ICTP Lect. Notes, vol. 6, Abdus Salam Int. Cent. Theoret. Phys., Trieste, 2001, pp. 1–148. MR1919457
- [14] J.-P. Demailly and H. Skoda, Relations entre les notions de positivités de P. A. Griffiths et de S. Nakano pour les fibrés vectoriels, Séminaire Pierre Lelong-Henri Skoda (Analyse). Années 1978/79 (French), Lecture Notes in Math., vol. 822, Springer, Berlin, 1980, pp. 304–309 (French). MR599033
- [15] T. Frankel, Manifolds with positive curvature, Pacific J. Math. 11 (1961), 165–174. MR0123272
- [16] A. Futaki, An obstruction to the existence of Einstein Kähler metrics, Invent. Math. 73 (1983), no. 3, 437–443, DOI 10.1007/BF01388438. MR718940
- [17] A. Futaki, Kähler-Einstein metrics and integral invariants, Lecture Notes in Mathematics, vol. 1314, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1988. MR947341
- [18] S. I. Goldberg and S. Kobayashi, *Holomorphic bisectional curvature*, J. Differential Geometry 1 (1967), 225–233. MR0227901
- [19] H.-L. Gu, A new proof of Mok's generalized Frankel conjecture theorem, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 137 (2009), no. 3, 1063–1068, DOI 10.1090/S0002-9939-08-09611-1. MR2457447
- [20] R. S. Hamilton, Three-manifolds with positive Ricci curvature, J. Differential Geom. 17 (1982), no. 2, 255–306. MR664497
- [21] _____, A compactness property for solutions of the Ricci flow, Amer. J. Math. 117 (1995), no. 3, 545–572, DOI 10.2307/2375080. MR1333936
- [22] W. He and S. Sun, Frankel conjecture and Sasaki geometry, Adv. Math. 291 (2016), 912–960, DOI 10.1016/j.aim.2015.11.053. MR3459033
- [23] S. Kobayashi, On compact Kähler manifolds with positive definite Ricci tensor, Ann. of Math. (2) 74 (1961), 570–574, DOI 10.2307/1970298. MR0133086
- [24] S. Kobayashi and T. Ochiai, Characterizations of complex projective spaces and hyperquadrics, J. Math. Kyoto Univ. 13 (1973), 31–47, DOI 10.1215/kjm/1250523432. MR0316745

- [25] T. Mabuchi, C³-actions and algebraic threefolds with ample tangent bundle, Nagoya Math. J. 69 (1978), 33-64. MR0477169
- [26] N. Mok, The uniformization theorem for compact Kähler manifolds of nonnegative holomorphic bisectional curvature, J. Differential Geom. 27 (1988), no. 2, 179–214. MR925119
- [27] S. Mori, Projective manifolds with ample tangent bundles, Ann. of Math. (2) 110 (1979), no. 3, 593–606, DOI 10.2307/1971241. MR554387
- [28] N. Pali, Characterization of Einstein-Fano manifolds via the Kähler-Ricci flow, Indiana Univ. Math.
 J. 57 (2008), no. 7, 3241–3274, DOI 10.1512/iumj.2008.57.3426. MR2492232
- [29] D. H. Phong, J. Song, J. Sturm, and B. Weinkove, The Kähler-Ricci flow and the ∂ operator on vector fields, J. Differential Geom. 81 (2009), no. 3, 631–647. MR2487603
- [30] _____, The Kähler-Ricci flow with positive bisectional curvature, Invent. Math. 173 (2008), no. 3, 651–665, DOI 10.1007/s00222-008-0134-x. MR2425138
- [31] D. H. Phong and J. Sturm, On stability and the convergence of the Kähler-Ricci flow, J. Differential Geom. 72 (2006), no. 1, 149–168. MR2215459
- [32] N. Sesum and G. Tian, Bounding scalar curvature and diameter along the Kähler Ricci flow (after Perelman), J. Inst. Math. Jussieu 7 (2008), no. 3, 575–587, DOI 10.1017/S1474748008000133. MR2427424
- [33] W.-X. Shi, Deforming the metric on complete Riemannian manifolds, J. Differential Geom. 30 (1989), no. 1, 223–301. MR1001277
- [34] Y. T. Siu and S. T. Yau, Compact Kähler manifolds of positive bisectional curvature, Invent. Math. 59 (1980), no. 2, 189–204, DOI 10.1007/BF01390043. MR577360
- [35] S. T. Yau, On the Ricci curvature of a compact Kähler manifold and the complex Monge-Ampère equation. I, Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 31 (1978), no. 3, 339–411, DOI 10.1002/cpa.3160310304. MR480350
- [36] Z. Zhang, Kähler Ricci flow on Fano manifolds with vanished Futaki invariants, Math. Res. Lett. 18 (2011), no. 5, 969–982, DOI 10.4310/MRL.2011.v18.n5.a14. MR2875869